

Cancer Facts & Figures for Hispanic/Latino People 2021-2023



Contents

Basic Cancer Facts	
Introduction	
What Is Cancer?	
Can Cancer Be Prevented?	
Factors That Influence Cancer Occurrence and Outcomes among Hispanic People	
Socioeconomic Status and Structural Racism	
Access to Care	
Cultural Values and Beliefs	
Acculturation	
Cancer Occurrence among Hispanic People	
What Is the Risk of Developing or Dying of Cancer?	
How Many New Cancer Cases and Deaths Are Expected in 2021?	
How Have Cancer Rates Changed over Time?	
How Do Cancer Rates among Hispanic People Differ?	
Selected Cancers	
Cancer Risk Factors	
Tobacco	
Excess Body Weight, Alcohol, Diet, and Physical Activity. $\hfill _$	
Type 2 Diabetes	
Infectious Agents	22

Cancer Screening	24
Breast Cancer Screening	24
Cervical Cancer Screening	24
Colorectal Cancer Screening	25
Prostate Cancer Screening	25
Lung Cancer Screening	25
Strategies to Improve Cancer Screening	26
The American Cancer Society	27
Patient and Caregiver Services	27
Research	28
Advocacy	28
Additional Resources	29
Data Limitations	30
Sources of Statistics	31
References	32

This publication attempts to summarize current scientific information about cancer. Except when specified, it does not represent the official policy of the American Cancer Society.

Suggested citation: American Cancer Society. *Cancer Facts & Figures for Hispanic/Latino People 2021-2023*. Atlanta: American Cancer Society, Inc. 2021.

American Cancer Society, Inc. 3380 Chastain Meadows Pkwy NW Suite 200, Kennesaw, GA 30144 (404) 320-3333

©2021, American Cancer Society, Inc. All rights reserved, including the right to reproduce this publication or portions thereof in any form.

Basic Cancer Facts

Introduction

Hispanic individuals make up the largest and youngest community of color in the US. With a population size of 60.6 million in the continental US and Hawaii, they accounted for 18% of the total population in 2019.¹ In addition, 99% of the more than 3 million Americans who reside in Puerto Rico identify as Hispanic.² The Hispanic population, which is primarily concentrated in the Southwest and Florida (Figure 1), continues to be one of the most rapidly growing populations in the US despite recent slowdowns in both immigration and births.¹ Approximately one-third of Hispanic people in the US were foreign-born (i.e., born outside the US and its territories, including Puerto Rico) in 2019,¹ down from 40% in 2007.³

Over the years, many pan-ethnic terms have evolved to describe people who trace their roots to Latin America and Spain. The terms "Hispanic" and "Latino/a/x" are used herein to refer to a person of Hispanic origin

interchangeably without preference or prejudice. This global community is incredibly diverse, and is made up of people from all races, religions, languages, and cultural identities. The majority of Hispanic individuals identify as Mexican (61.9%), followed by Puerto Rican (9.7%), Cuban (4.0%), Salvadoran (3.9%), and Dominican (3.5%),³ although the distribution varies substantially by state. For example, Mexican individuals comprise more than 80% of the Hispanic population in both Texas and California, but only 15% in Florida, where more than half of Hispanic people identify as Cuban or Puerto Rican.

This report summarizes statistics on cancer occurrence, risk factors, and screening for Hispanic individuals in the continental US and Hawaii, as well as incidence and mortality for the US territory of Puerto Rico. It is intended to provide information to community leaders, public health and health care workers, and others interested in cancer prevention, early detection, and treatment for



Source: US Census Bureau, Population Estimates, July 1, 2019. Released 2020.

©2021, American Cancer Society, Inc., Surveillance and Health Equity Research

Table 1. Sociodemographic Characteristics & Health Care Access (%) in Hispanic versus Non-Hispanic (NH) WhitePeople, US, 2015-2019

	Hispanic							
Socioeconomic Characteristics, 2015-2019	All	Mexican	Puerto Rican	Cuban	Central American	South American	Dominican	All
Foreign-born	33	31	2	56	58	62	54	4
Speak English "not well" or "not at all"*, ages >5 years	24	23	13	33	34	21	30	11
Less than high school diploma, ages >25 years	31	36	20	19	42	13	29	7
Income below federal poverty level	20	20	22	16	23	20	12	10

	Hispanic						
Health Care Access Characteristics, 2017-2018	All	Mexican	Puerto Rican	Cuban	Central/South American	Dominican	All
No health care coverage							
By age:							
<18 years (not age-adjusted)	8	8	**	**	10	**	4
18-64 years	26	30	11	23	28	13	9
65+ years	3	**	0	**	**	**	<1
By nativity (18 years and older):							
US-born	12	13	8	14	**	**	7
Foreign-born	32	37	**	22	28	10	9
No usual source of medical care (18 to 64 years)							
Overall	25	25	19	29	28	14	15
Men	30	30	21	30	34	22	19
Women	19	19	17	28	22	9	11

*Among respondents >5 years who indicated that a language other than English was spoken at home. Respondents were asked to rank English-speaking ability as "not at all," "not well," "well," or "very well." **Estimate not presented due to instability. NOTES: Health care access estimates for adults are age adjusted to the 2000 US standard population.

Source: Socioeconomic Characteristics – US Census Bureau, American Community Survey, Public Use Microdata File, 2015-2019. Available at: https://data.census.gov/mdat/#/. Accessed March 26, 2021. Health Care Access Characteristics – National Health Interview Surveys, 2017 and 2018.

©2021, American Cancer Society, Inc., Surveillance and Health Equity Science

Hispanic individuals. It is important to note that final population-based data for the COVID-19 pandemic are not yet available and thus not reflected herein. In addition, most cancer data in the US are reported for Hispanic people in aggregate, masking important differences between groups according to nativity (i.e. foreign- versus US-born), degree of acculturation, and country of origin.

What Is Cancer?

Cancer is a group of diseases characterized by the uncontrolled growth and spread of abnormal cells. If the spread cannot be controlled, it can result in death. Cancer is caused by external factors, such as tobacco, infectious organisms, and an unhealthy diet, and internal factors, such as inherited genetic mutations, hormones, and immune conditions. These factors may act together or in sequence to cause cancer. Ten or more years often pass between risk factor exposure and detectable cancer.

Can Cancer Be Prevented?

An estimated 42% of all cancer cases (excluding nonmelanoma skin cancer) and 45% of cancer deaths in the US could potentially be prevented by adopting healthier behaviors, such as not smoking maintaining a healthy weight, staying active throughout life, following a healthy eating pattern, and avoiding or limiting alcohol consumption.⁴ This includes many of the cancers caused by infectious organisms, which are avoidable either by preventing the infection through vaccination or behavioral changes, or by treating the infection. For more information on cancer risk factors, see page 17. Additionally, screening can help prevent colorectal and cervical cancers through the detection and removal of precancerous growths, and can also detect cancers of the breast, colorectum, cervix, and lung (among people who smoke/d) at an early stage, when treatment is usually less intensive and more successful. For more information on cancer screening, see page 24.

Factors That Influence Cancer Occurrence and Outcomes among Hispanic People

Socioeconomic Status and Structural Racism

Socioeconomic status, as often measured by income and education, is the most critical factor affecting health, longevity, and quality of life. It influences the prevalence of underlying cancer risk factors and access to health insurance, preventive care, early detection, and treatment. In the US, compared to non-Hispanic Whites, Hispanic individuals have lower levels of educational attainment and are more likely to live in poverty. In 2019, 16% of Hispanic individuals lived in poverty compared to 7% of non-Hispanic Whites.⁵ However, major differences within the Hispanic community according to country of origin persist (Table 1).

Generally lower socioeconomic status among persons of color in the US stems from long-term structural racism, or racism that is reinforced by discriminatory laws, economic policies, and societal and cultural norms.⁶ Structural racism has led to persistent disadvantages in housing, employment, income, and, consequently, health and health care access. In addition, many Hispanic individuals face colorism, or discrimination against persons with darker complexions, which is perpetuated by society at large and internalized within the population.⁷ Further research is needed to describe the contribution of colorism and structural racism to cancer disparities among Hispanic men and women.

Access to Care

Many Hispanic individuals face financial, structural (e.g., lack of transportation), and personal barriers (e.g., cultural and linguistic factors, provider bias) to health care.^{8,9} Despite substantial reductions in the percentage of uninsured, working-age individuals following the

Table 2. Lifetime Probability (%) of Developing or Dying from Invasive Cancer among Hispanic and Non-Hispanic (NH) White People by Sex, US, 2016-2018

		Devel	oping	Dy	ing
		Hispanic	NH White	Hispanic	NH White
	Male	36.9 (1 in 3)	41.0 (1 in 2)	18.8 (1 in 5)	20.8 (1 in 5)
All cancer types*	Female	36.2 (1 in 3)	39.9 (1 in 3)	15.4 (1 in 7)	18.2 (1 in 5)
Breast	Female	10.7 (1 in 9)	13.6 (1 in 7)	2.0 (1 in 49)	2.5 (1 in 39)
Colon & rectum	Male	4.4 (1 in 22)	4.2 (1 in 24)	1.9 (1 in 52)	1.7 (1 in 58)
COION & RECLUM	Female	3.8 (1 in 26)	3.9 (1 in 25)	1.5 (1 in 66)	1.6 (1 in 63)
Kidaay Quaaal aabia	Male	2.3 (1 in 43)	2.3 (1 in 44)	0.7 (1 in 154)	0.6 (1 in 172)
Kidney & renal pelvis	Female	1.5 (1 in 68)	1.3 (1 in 79)	0.4 (1 in 267)	0.3 (1 in 306)
Liver & intrahepatic	Male	2.4 (1 in 42)	1.2 (1 in 85)	1.7 (1 in 59)	0.9 (1 in 111)
bile duct	Female	1.2 (1 in 81)	0.5 (1 in 200)	1.0 (1 in 99)	0.5 (1 in 209)
Lung Q bronchus	Male	4.4 (1 in 23)	6.7 (1 in 15)	3.1 (1 in 32)	5.2 (1 in 19)
Lung & bronchus	Female	3.6 (1 in 28)	6.7 (1 in 15)	2.0 (1 in 49)	4.6 (1 in 22)
Prostate	Male	11.1 (1 in 9)	12.0 (1 in 8)	2.8 (1 in 36)	2.3 (1 in 44)
Ctanaash	Male	1.6 (1 in 64)	0.8 (1 in 122)	0.8 (1 in 124)	0.3 (1 in 311)
Stomach	Female	1.1 (1 in 89)	0.5 (1 in 210)	0.6 (1 in 163)	0.2 (1 in 487)
The second second	Male	0.6 (1 in 174)	0.8 (1 in 132)	0.1 (1 in 1,109)	0.1 (1 in 1,718)
Thyroid	Female	1.9 (1 in 51)	1.9 (1 in 52)	0.1 (1 in 785)	0.1 (1 in 1,562)
Uterine cervix	Female	0.9 (1 in 115)	0.6 (1 in 180)	0.3 (1 in 350)	0.2 (1 in 516)
Uterine corpus	Female	2.9 (1 in 34)	3.2 (1 in 31)	0.6 (1 in 165)	0.6 (1 in 167)

*All sites excludes basal cell and squamous cell skin cancers and in situ cancers except urinary bladder. NOTE: Percentages and "1 in" numbers may not be equivalent due to rounding. The probabilities presented here are based on the SEER registry areas and may not be representative of the entire US Hispanic population. **Source:** Devcan: Probability of Developing or Dying of Cancer Software, Version 6.7.9.

©2021, American Cancer Society, Inc., Surveillance and Health Equity Science

Figure 2. Leading Sites of New Cancer Cases and Deaths among Hispanic People - 2021 Estimates

		Es	mated New Cases*		
Males			Females		
Prostate	17,600	22%	Breast	28,100	29%
Colon & rectum	9,000	11%	Uterine corpus	7,900	8%
Lung & bronchus	6,000	7%	Colon & rectum	7,500	8%
Kidney & renal pelvis	5,900	7%	Thyroid	6,300	7%
Liver & intrahepatic bile duct	4,800	6%	Lung & bronchus	5,800	6%
Non-Hodgkin lymphoma	4,700	6%	Non-Hodgkin lymphoma	4,200	4%
Leukemia	3,700	5%	Kidney & renal pelvis	3,800	4%
Urinary bladder	3,300	4%	Leukemia	2,900	3%
Pancreas	2,800	3%	Pancreas	2,900	3%
Oral cavity & pharynx	2,500	3%	Uterine cervix	2,700	3%
All sites	80,200	100%	All sites	96,400	100%
			stimated Deaths		
Males					
	3 200	13%		3 100	14%
Kidney & renal pelvis Liver & intrahepatic bile duct Non-Hodgkin lymphoma Leukemia Urinary bladder Pancreas Oral cavity & pharynx	5,900 4,800 4,700 3,700 3,300 2,800 2,500	7% 6% 5% 4% 3% 3% 100%	Thyroid Lung & bronchus Non-Hodgkin lymphoma Kidney & renal pelvis Leukemia Pancreas Uterine cervix	6,300 5,800 4,200 3,800 2,900 2,900 2,700	79 69 49 39 39 39 1009

Males				remates			
Lung & bronchus	3,200	13%		Breast	3,100	14%	
Colon & rectum	2,700	11%	- T	Lung & bronchus	2,300	10%	
Liver & intrahepatic bile duct	2,600	11%		Colon & rectum	2,000	9%	
Prostate	2,400	10%		Pancreas	1,900	8%	
Pancreas	1,900	8%		Liver & intrahepatic bile duct	1,500	7%	
Stomach	1,200	5%		Ovary	1,200	5%	
Leukemia	1,000	4%		Uterine corpus	1,200	5%	
Non-Hodgkin lymphoma	1,000	4%		Stomach	1,000	4%	
Kidney & renal pelvis	800	3%		Leukemia	800	4%	
Brain & other nervous system	800	3%		Non-Hodgkin lymphoma	800	4%	
All sites	23,800	100%		All sites	22,700	100%	

*Estimates exclude basal and squamous cell skin cancers and in situ carcinoma except urinary bladder. Estimates do not reflect the impact of the COVID-19 pandemic on cancer cases or deaths (see Sources of Statistics, page 31, for more information).

©2021, American Cancer Society, Inc., Surveillance and Health Equity Science

passage of the Affordable Care Act (ACA),¹⁰ Hispanic men and women continue to be the least likely to have health insurance of any major racial or ethnic group. Among those 18 to 64 years of age, 26% of Hispanic individuals were uninsured during 2017-2018 compared to 9% of non-Hispanic Whites (Table 1). Within the Hispanic population, uninsured rates are highest among Mexican individuals (30%) and those who are foreign-born (37%). Overall, Hispanic individuals also continue to be less likely to have a usual source of care than non-Hispanic Whites (25% versus 15%, respectively), especially men.

Several challenges remain for increasing health insurance coverage, including expanding Medicaid in states with large Hispanic populations (e.g., Texas) and extending coverage to undocumented immigrants, the majority of whom identify as Hispanic. Visit healthcare.gov/ for more information about health insurance options made available through provisions in the ACA (Spanish version: cuidadodesalud.gov/es/).

It is important to note that the COVID-19 pandemic disproportionately affected the Hispanic community and other communities of color in terms of virus case burden, mortality, employment, health insurance, and access to health care. The implications for the cancer burden among Hispanic individuals as a result of the far-reaching effects of the pandemic and its impact on access to care are not fully known. However, preliminary data have suggested that life expectancy in Hispanic people declined 3 years in 2020, largely as a result of the pandemic, compared to a 1-year decline among non-Hispanic White people.¹¹

Cultural Values and Beliefs

Cultural factors, including language, values, and traditions, may also influence behaviors, beliefs about illness, and approaches to medical care. Many experts suggest that improving cultural competency among health care providers could help reduce health disparities.¹² Cultural competency is a set of attitudes, skills, behaviors, and policies that enable organizations and individuals to work effectively in cross-cultural situations.¹³

Acculturation

Acculturation is the adoption among immigrants of attitudes, values, customs, beliefs, and behaviors of the host country. Acculturation is associated with both positive and negative influences on health that vary by sex and Hispanic group.^{14 15} Compared to their country of origin, immigrants to the US and subsequent generations may adopt unhealthy behaviors that increase cancer risk, such as smoking, drinking alcohol excessively, and

eating a lower-quality diet. For example, the average body mass index among Mexican individuals is highest among those who are US-born, intermediate among foreign-born long-term residents, and lowest among foreign-born persons who have lived in the US 15 years or less.¹⁶ Although higher-quality health care and public health infrastructure may be available in the US, many immigrants face barriers such as less paid time off and access to employer-provided health insurance and transportation, ultimately reducing health care access.

The increased cancer risk among US-born Hispanic individuals due to acculturation is striking. For example, one study found that overall cancer death rates among US-born Hispanic men in Texas were about 60% higher than those among their foreign-born counterparts (201 per 100,000 versus 125, respectively, during 2008-2012).¹⁷ Even first-generation Hispanic individuals often have higher cancer rates than those in their country of origin for the most common cancers.^{18, 19}

Cancer Occurrence among Hispanic People

What Is the Risk of Developing or Dying of Cancer?

The risk of being diagnosed with cancer increases with age because most cancers require many years to develop. Hispanic people are less likely to be diagnosed with cancer than non-Hispanic White people overall, although risk varies by cancer type. About 1 in 3 Hispanic men and women will be diagnosed with cancer in their lifetime and 1 in 5 men and 1 in 7 women will die from the disease (Table 2).²⁰

How Many New Cancer Cases and Deaths Are Expected in 2021?

New cases: In 2021, there are projected to be 80,200 new cancer cases diagnosed in Hispanic men and 96,400 cases in Hispanic women, excluding basal cell and squamous cell skin cancers, which are not required to be reported to

cancer registries (Figure 2). Similar to the US population overall, prostate and breast cancers are the most common cancers in Hispanic men and women, respectively.

Deaths: Cancer is the leading cause of death in the US Hispanic population, whereas heart disease is the leading cause of death in non-Hispanic Whites (Table 3), reflecting the younger age structure of the Hispanic population. About 23,800 Hispanic men and 22,700 Hispanic women are expected to die from cancer in 2021, with the leading cause of cancer death being lung cancer in men and breast cancer in women (Figure 2).

How Have Cancer Rates Changed over Time?

Trends in cancer incidence: Trends in cancer rates among Hispanic people in the US are difficult to interpret because cancer risk in recent immigrants differs

Table 3. Leading Causes of Death among Hispanic versus Non-Hispanic White People, US, 2019

		Hispanic				Non-His	panic White	White
	Rank	Number of deaths	Percent of total deaths	Death rate*	Rank	Number of deaths	Percent of total deaths	Death rate*
Cancer	1	43,079	20	106.2	2	462,064	21	150.9
Heart diseases	2	41,794	20	111.8	1	513,673	23	165.6
Accidents (unintentional injuries)	3	18,874	9	35.1	4	125,755	6	54.6
Cerebrovascular diseases	4	11,959	6	32.9	5	111,060	5	35.6
Diabetes	5	10,166	5	25.8	7	57,325	3	19.0
Alzheimer's disease	6	8,221	4	25.4	6	100,532	5	31.5
Chronic liver disease & cirrhosis	7	6,877	3	14.6	11	31,976	1	11.8
Chronic lower respiratory diseases	8	5,700	3	16.2	3	136,454	6	43.5
Nephritis, nephrotic syndrome, & nephrosis	9	4,488	2	11.8	10	35,153	2	11.4
Intentional self-harm (suicide)	10	4,331	2	7.2	9	37,672	2	17.5
All causes		212,397	100	526.0		2,189,567		736.0

*Rates are per 100,000 and age adjusted to the 2000 US standard population. NOTE: Death rates are not directly comparable to those published in prior years due to updated population denominator data.

Source: National Center for Health Statistics, Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, 2021.

©2021, American Cancer Society, Inc., Surveillance and Health Equity Science

substantially from established residents and patterns in immigration frequently shift. During the most recent 10 data years (2009-2018), incidence rates among Hispanic men decreased by about 2% per year while those among Hispanic women were stable. This generally consistent pattern over time has resulted in incidence rates among Hispanic men slowly approaching those of Hispanic women, although rates in 2018 remained about 5% higher in men (Figure 3). Incidence rates in the general population are also slowly converging in men and women, but remain about 14% higher in men.²¹ Trends for selected cancers are shown in Figure 4 and discussed beginning on page 9.

Trends in cancer mortality: The cancer death rate in the US began declining in 1991 overall, but not until the late 1990s among Hispanic individuals (Figure 3). Death rates for all cancers combined decreased from 2010 to 2019 among Hispanic men and women by an average of 1.6% and 0.9% per year, respectively, similar to non-Hispanic White men (1.8%) and women (1.5%).

How Do Cancer Rates among Hispanic People Differ?

Incidence and death rates: Compared to non-Hispanic White individuals, Hispanic men and women in the continental US and Hawaii have lower rates of the four



Rates are age adjusted to the 2000 US standard population. Incidence rates are based on cases diagnosed in 28 states that met North American Association of Central Cancer Registries' (NAACCR's) high-quality data standards for all years. Deaths in Louisiana, New Hampshire, and Oklahoma were excluded from death rates because these states did not collect complete information on Hispanic origin for some years.

Sources: Incidence – NAACCR, 2021. Mortality – National Center for Health Statistics, Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, 2021. ©2021, American Cancer Society, Inc., Surveillance and Health Equity Science



Rates are age adjusted to the 2000 US standard population. Incidence rates are based on cases diagnosed in 28 states that met North American Association of Central Cancer Registries' (NAACCR's) high-quality data standards for all years. Deaths in Louisiana, Oklahoma, and New Hampshire were excluded from death rates because these states did not collect complete information on Hispanic origin for some years. *Includes intrahepatic bile duct. NOTE: Figures are shown on different scales to emphasize trends. **Sources:** Incidence – NAACCR, 2021. Mortality – National Center for Health Statistics, Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, 2021.

©2021, American Cancer Society, Inc., Surveillance and Health Equity Science

most common cancers (female breast, colorectal, lung, and prostate) but higher rates of infection-related cancers (stomach, liver, cervical) and gallbladder cancer (Table 4), generally reflecting cancer risk in Latin America with the exception of liver cancer.²² However, there is a large variation within this aggregated group by country of origin²³ and nativity, with risk among long-term residents and descendants of Hispanic immigrants approaching or surpassing that of non-Hispanic Whites for some cancer types due to acculturation (see section

Table 4. Cancer Incidence and Death Rates in Hispanic versus Non-Hispanic (NH) White People, US, 2014-2019

Incidence, 2014-2018		Male			Female	
Cancer	Hispanic Rate	NH White Rate	Rate Ratio	Hispanic Rate	NH White Rate	Rate Ratio
Acute lymphocytic leukemia	2.8	1.8	1.57	2.2	1.4	1.55
Breast (female)				96.3	132.5	0.73
Colon & rectum*	39.2	41.5	0.95	27.6	31.3	0.88
Gallbladder	1.2	0.7	1.88	2.5	1.1	2.29
Kidney & renal pelvis	22.3	23.5	0.95	12.7	11.8	1.07
Liver & intrahepatic bile duct	20.3	10.9	1.86	8.1	3.9	2.06
Lung & bronchus	36.1	69.0	0.52	24.2	56.0	0.43
Non-Hodgkin lymphoma	20.1	24.2	0.83	15.6	16.5	0.94
Oral cavity & pharynx	10.5	20.0	0.52	4.3	7.0	0.61
Ovary				10.0	11.1	0.90
Pancreas	12.5	15.1	0.83	10.8	11.2	0.96
Prostate	85.3	99.9	0.85			
Stomach	12.0	7.4	1.62	7.7	3.5	2.22
Thyroid	5.8	8.1	0.72	21.2	22.0	0.97
Urinary bladder	18.6	38.0	0.49	4.9	9.4	0.52
Uterine cervix				9.6	7.2	1.32
Uterine corpus				24.5	27.8	0.88
All sites	370.2	501.3	0.74	339.2	442.8	0.77

Mortality, 2015-2019		Male			Female	
Cancer	Hispanic Rate	NH White Rate	Rate Ratio	Hispanic Rate	NH White Rate	Rate Ratio
Acute lymphocytic leukemia	0.8	0.5	1.57	0.6	0.3	1.86
Breast (female)				13.7	19.9	0.69
Colon & rectum	13.7	15.8	0.87	8.5	11.3	0.75
Gallbladder	0.5	0.4	1.46	1.1	0.6	1.91
Kidney & renal pelvis	4.9	5.4	0.90	2.2	2.3	0.95
Liver & intrahepatic bile duct	13.2	8.5	1.57	6.0	3.6	1.67
Lung & bronchus	22.1	47.0	0.47	11.8	34.2	0.35
Non-Hodgkin lymphoma	5.7	7.2	0.79	3.6	4.2	0.85
Oral cavity & pharynx	2.4	4.1	0.59	0.8	1.5	0.56
Ovary				5.0	6.9	0.73
Pancreas	9.6	13.0	0.74	7.9	9.6	0.82
Prostate	15.6	17.8	0.88			
Stomach	6.1	3.0	2.04	3.9	1.5	2.58
Thyroid	0.6	0.5	1.13	0.7	0.4	1.58
Urinary bladder	3.9	8.1	0.49	1.3	2.2	0.58
Uterine cervix				2.5	2.0	1.24
Uterine corpus				4.2	4.6	0.92
All sites	132.2	186.2	0.71	93.9	135.4	0.69

All rate ratios presented were statistically significant (p < 0.05). Rates are per 100,000 and age adjusted to the 2000 US standard population. Rate ratios are the unrounded rates in Hispanic individuals divided by the unrounded rates in NH Whites. *Colorectal cancer incidence rates exclude cancers of the appendix. **Source:** Incidence – North American Association of Central Cancer Registries, 2021. Mortality – National Center for Health Statistics, Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, 2021. Data exclude Puerto Rico.

©2021, American Cancer Society, Inc., Surveillance and Health Equity Science

on Acculturation, page 5).^{19, 21, 24} Consequently, the cancer pattern in Puerto Rico is more similar to that for non-Hispanic Whites than all other Hispanic people in the US with the notable exception of lung cancer, for which the rate in Puerto Rico residents is one-third that of non-Hispanic Whites and two-thirds that of all other Hispanic individuals in the US (Table 5). In contrast, prostate and colorectal cancer mortality rates among men in Puerto Rico are about 40% and 20% higher, respectively, than those in non-Hispanic White men.

Stage distribution and survival: Cancer stage describes the extent or spread of disease at the time of diagnosis. Hispanic men and women are generally less likely to be diagnosed at an early stage, when treatment is usually less intensive and more successful, with the largest gaps for melanoma and breast cancer (Figure 5).

Five-year relative survival is the percentage of people who have survived their cancer 5 years after diagnosis, adjusted for normal life expectancy, and is used to describe cancer survival in this report (see Sources of Statistics, page 31). Five-year relative survival in Hispanic patients is similar or slightly lower than that in non-Hispanic Whites for most cancers. One exception is melanoma, for which 5-year survival is 91% in non-Hispanic White men versus 78% in Hispanic men and 95% versus 88%, respectively, among women (Figure 6). This disparity likely reflects later-stage diagnosis (Figure 5) and perhaps a higher proportion of thicker tumors among Hispanic patients.²⁵ Importantly, broader survival disparities among Hispanic individuals may be masked because follow-up of patient vital status is more challenging and less accurate for people who are foreign-born and may return to their home country with illness.²⁶ Survival comparisons are also influenced by the younger age structure among Hispanic individuals because unlike incidence and mortality, survival statistics as reported by the National Cancer Institute's Surveillance, Epidemiology, and End Results program are not adjusted for age.

Table 5. Cancer Incidence and Death Rates forSelected Cancers, Puerto Rico, 2014-2018

	Incidence	Mortality
All sites		
Male	410.0	140.3
Female	334.3	89.2
Breast (female)	95.2	17.6
Colon & rectum		
Male	48.8	19.1
Female	33.6	11.5
Liver & intrahepatic bile duct		
Male	13.3	9.1
Female	4.4	3.4
Lung & bronchus		
Male	22.6	16.9
Female	11.5	7.8
Prostate	144.3	23.8
Stomach		
Male	9.4	5.4
Female	5.9	3.0
Thyroid		
Male	11.9	0.4
Female	44.5	0.4
Uterine cervix	12.9	2.2

Rates are per 100,000 and are age adjusted to the 2000 US standard population. Rates for Puerto Rico exclude cases diagnosed in the latter half of 2017 due to the impact of Hurricane Maria. Incidence rates for colon and rectal cancer exclude appendix.

Source: Incidence – North American Association of Central Cancer Registries, 2021. Mortality – National Center for Health Statistics, Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, 2021.

©2021, American Cancer Society, Inc., Surveillance and Health Equity Science

Selected Cancers

Female Breast

New cases and deaths: An estimated 28,100 breast cancer cases and 3,100 deaths are expected to occur among Hispanic women in 2021 (Figure 2). Breast cancer incidence and mortality rates in Hispanic women are about 30% lower compared to rates in non-Hispanic White women overall (Table 4) and even lower among those who are foreign-born.²⁷ This partly reflects differences in reproductive factors associated with breast cancer risk (see Risk factors, page 10) and probably lower mammography screening prevalence in Hispanic women and thus less detection of asymptomatic lesions.²⁸

Incidence trends: The breast cancer incidence rate increased by about 0.5% per year in Hispanic women from 2009 to 2018, similar to trends in non-Hispanic White women.





©2021, American Cancer Society, Inc., Surveillance and Health Equity Science

Mortality trends: Breast cancer mortality has declined in Hispanic women since the early 1990s; from 2010 to 2019, the rate declined by 0.8% annually in Hispanic women overall, similar to declines in non-Hispanic White women (1.3% annually).

Risk factors: Potentially modifiable factors that increase breast cancer risk include alcohol consumption, postmenopausal hormone use, physical inactivity, and weight gain after the age of 18 and/or being overweight/ obese (postmenopausal breast cancer).²⁹ (See page 17 for the prevalence of selected cancer risk factors among Hispanic individuals.) Some research indicates that the relationship between excess body weight and breast cancer risk is generally similar between Hispanic and non-Hispanic White women after accounting for differences in menopausal hormone therapy use and tumor subtype, although further studies are needed.³⁰

Reproductive factors associated with reduced breast cancer risk include younger age at first birth, higher parity (number of childbirths), and breastfeeding, all of which are more common in Hispanic versus non-Hispanic White women.³¹ In particular, breastfeeding initiation is higher in Hispanic than non-Hispanic White women,³² especially among immigrants.³³

Early detection: Screening mammography can detect breast cancer at an early stage when treatment is usually less intensive and more successful. For information on mammography use in Hispanic women, see page 24. **Stage distribution and survival:** Five-year breast cancer survival in Hispanic women is slightly lower than that in non-Hispanic White women, 88% versus 92% (Figure 6), partly reflecting the higher proportion of Hispanic women diagnosed with later-staged disease. During 2014-2018, 59% of breast cancers among Hispanic women were diagnosed at a localized stage, compared to 67% among non-Hispanic White women (Figure 5). Breast cancer is less likely to be diagnosed at a localized stage in Hispanic women than in non-Hispanic White women even after accounting for differences in age, socioeconomic status, and detection method.^{34,35} Lower rates of mammography screening and delayed follow-up of abnormal results or self-discovered breast abnormalities among Hispanic women likely contribute to this difference.^{36,37}

In addition to being more likely to be diagnosed at a later stage, Hispanic women are more likely than non-Hispanic White women to be diagnosed with tumors that are larger and hormone receptor negative, both of which are more difficult to treat,^{38,39} and are less likely to receive appropriate and timely breast cancer treatment.⁴⁰ It is uncertain how breast cancer survival in Hispanic women compares to that in non-Hispanic White women after accounting for these factors,^{39,41.} ⁴² especially given larger difficulties in follow-up of Hispanic patient vital status (see Data Limitations, page 30). Five-year survival for local-, regional-, and distant-stage disease is 97%, 85%, and 31%, respectively.

Visit cancer.org for additional information about breast cancer in the latest edition of *Breast Cancer Facts & Figures*.

Colon and Rectum

New cases and deaths: In 2021, an estimated 16,500 Hispanic men and women will be diagnosed with cancer of the colon or rectum (colorectum, CRC) and about 4,700 Hispanic individuals will die from the disease. Hispanic individuals have lower CRC incidence and mortality rates than non-Hispanic Whites, with a larger gap for women than for men (Table 4). However, in some states, such as Texas and California, US-born Hispanic men have CRC mortality rates that approach or surpass those of non-Hispanic White men because of acculturation (see page 5).^{19,43}

Figure 6. Five-year Relative Survival Rates (%) in Hispanic and Non-Hispanic White People, 2011-2017



Rates are based on cases diagnosed in the SEER 18 areas (excluding the Alaska Native Registry) from 2011 to 2017, followed through 2018. NOTE: Survival rates should be interpreted with caution. Please see section on Statistical Notes, page 31, for more information.

Source: Surveillance, Epidemiology, and End Results (SEER) Program, National Cancer Institute, 2021.

©2021, American Cancer Society, Inc., Surveillance and Health Equity Science

Incidence trends: CRC declines among Hispanic individuals began later and were initially slower than non-Hispanic Whites because of more gradual uptake of colonoscopy screening. However, from 2009 to 2018, colorectal cancer (CRC) incidence rates decreased by about 2% annually among Hispanic individuals, similar to declines among non-Hispanic Whites. Rates in recent years may be leveling off, possibly in part due to a plateau in screening uptake.⁴³

Mortality trends: From 2010 to 2019, CRC death rates decreased by 1.7% per year among Hispanic men and women, very similar to 1.9% annual declines among non-Hispanic Whites.

Risk factors: Modifiable factors that increase CRC risk include obesity (especially abdominal), high consumption of red or processed meat, physical inactivity (colon only), cigarette smoking, excess alcohol consumption, low calcium intake, and very low intake of fruits and vegetables.⁴⁴ Personal medical history and hereditary factors that increase risk include type 2 diabetes, chronic inflammatory bowel disease of significant duration (e.g., ulcerative colitis or Crohn's disease), certain inherited syndromes (e.g., Lynch syndrome, familial adenomatous polyposis [FAP]), and a personal or family history of adenomas or CRC.⁴⁵⁻⁴⁸

Prevention and early detection: Screening can detect CRC at an earlier stage, when treatment is usually less intensive and more successful. In addition, the detection and removal of adenomatous polyps through routine screening contributes to the prevention of CRC.⁴⁹ For information on CRC screening in Hispanic individuals, see page 25.

Stage distribution and survival: Although overall 5-year survival for colorectal cancer is similar in Hispanic and non-Hispanic White individuals (64% versus 65%, respectively), Hispanic men and women are slightly less likely to be diagnosed with localized disease compared to non-Hispanic Whites, 33% versus 35%, respectively (Figure 5). Five-year survival among Hispanic patients diagnosed at a localized stage is 90%, declining to 71% and 15% for those diagnosed at regional and distant stages, respectively, very similar to non-Hispanic White patients.

Visit cancer.org for additional information about colorectal cancer in the latest edition of *Colorectal Cancer Facts & Figures*.

Lung and Bronchus

New cases and deaths: In 2021, about 6,000 Hispanic men and 5,800 Hispanic women are expected to be diagnosed with cancer of the lung and bronchus (lung) and 3,200 Hispanic men and 2,300 Hispanic women are expected to die from the disease. Lung cancer incidence and mortality rates among Hispanic men and women are about half those of non-Hispanic Whites (Table 4) because of historic (and continued) lower cigarette smoking prevalence and because those who do smoke smoke fewer cigarettes.⁵⁰ However, rates within Hispanic subgroups vary substantially, particularly among men.⁵¹ For example, lung cancer mortality rates in Cuban men are only 25% lower than those in non-Hispanic White men.²³

Incidence trends: From 2009 to 2018, lung cancer incidence rates declined by about 3% annually in Hispanic men and by 1% annually in Hispanic women,

very similar to patterns in non-Hispanic Whites. The slower decline among women reflects later and more gradual uptake of smoking compared to men.

Mortality trends: Similar to trends in non-Hispanic Whites, annual declines in lung cancer death rates among Hispanic individuals have accelerated rapidly in recent years, likely due to advances in treatment. During 2015-2019, lung cancer death rates declined by 4.6% per year among Hispanic women and 5.1% per year among Hispanic men.

Risk factors: Cigarette smoking is the major risk factor for lung cancer, accounting for about 80% of lung cancer deaths in the US overall.⁴ Most lung cancers could be prevented by increasing cessation among adult smokers and decreasing smoking initiation among adolescents. Smoking prevalence is substantially lower in Hispanic individuals than in non-Hispanic Whites overall, but continues to vary widely by nationality and nativity status (see section on Tobacco, page 17).

Early detection: Screening with low-dose spiral computed tomography has been shown to reduce mortality among those at high risk for lung cancer.⁵² For information about lung cancer screening, see page 25.

Stage distribution and survival: Hispanic patients are slightly less likely to be diagnosed with localized disease compared to non-Hispanic Whites (22% versus 25%, respectively), although overall 5-year relative survival for all stages combined is similar (Hispanic: 21%; non-Hispanic White: 22%) (Figure 5). Five-year relative survival is 62% for localized disease among Hispanic patients, dropping to 33% and 7% for regional- and distant-stage disease.

Prostate

New cases and deaths: In 2021, about 17,600 new prostate cancer cases are expected to be diagnosed among Hispanic men, and an estimated 2,400 Hispanic men will die from the disease. Prostate cancer incidence and mortality rates are 12% lower in Hispanic men compared to non-Hispanic White men (Table 4). Incidence differences may reflect lower prevalence of screening in Hispanic men with the prostate-specific antigen (PSA) test, which detects asymptomatic, sometimes indolent disease.

Incidence trends: Although prostate cancer incidence generally declined after peaking in the early 1990s, rates have stabilized in recent years among non-Hispanic White and Hispanic men during 2014-2018. Incidence trends are driven by changes in guideline recommendations for screening with the PSA test. For more information on prostate cancer screening, see page 25.

Mortality trends: From 2010 to 2019, the prostate cancer death rate decreased by 1.8% per year among Hispanic men and by 1.3% per year among non-Hispanic White men, although the pace of the decline has slowed in non-Hispanic Whites and stabilized in Hispanic men in recent years.

Risk factors: The only well-established risk factors for prostate cancer are increasing age, African ancestry, certain inherited genetic conditions (e.g., Lynch syndrome), and a family history of the disease. However, increasing evidence suggests that obesity and smoking may be associated with an increased risk of aggressive disease.⁵³

Early detection: Currently, no organization recommends routine PSA testing for early prostate cancer detection among men at average risk. The American Cancer Society recommends that men who might benefit from testing have an opportunity to make a shared decision with their health care provider about whether to undergo screening. For more information on prostate cancer screening, see page 25.

Stage distribution and survival: Overall 5-year relative prostate cancer survival is slightly lower in Hispanic men than non-Hispanic White men, 94% versus 98%, respectively. Again, this difference at least partly reflects less PSA testing in Hispanic men because it inflates prostate cancer survival rates through both earlier and indolent disease detection. About 66% of prostate cancer cases in Hispanic men versus 72% of those in in non-Hispanic White men are diagnosed at a localized stage (Figure 5). Five-year survival in Hispanic men by stage is >99% for localized, 99% for regional, and 32% for distant stage.

Gallbladder

New cases and deaths: Gallbladder cancer is one of the few cancers that occurs more often in women than in men worldwide.⁵⁴ An estimated 800 Hispanic men and 1,100 Hispanic women will be diagnosed with gallbladder cancer in 2021, and 600 Hispanic individuals are expected to die from the disease. Gallbladder cancer incidence rates in both Hispanic men and women are double those in non-Hispanic White individuals (Table 4). Reasons for the high rates in Hispanic individuals are not well-understood, but may include inherited and/or other factors associated with gallbladder disease development.⁵⁵⁻⁵⁷

Incidence trends: From 2009-2018, gallbladder cancer incidence rates decreased more rapidly in Hispanic individuals (about 1.5% per year on average) than in non-Hispanic Whites (about 1% per year).

Mortality trends: From 2010 to 2019, death rates declined by about 2.5% annually in Hispanic individuals compared to 1.9% annually in non-Hispanic White individuals.

Risk factors: Potentially modifiable factors that increase the risk of gallbladder cancer include excess body weight, which is more prevalent among Hispanic than non-Hispanic White individuals, and the use of hormone replacement therapy, which is less common among Hispanic women.^{55, 58, 59} A history of gallstones also increases risk.⁶⁰

Stage distribution and survival: Five-year relative survival among Hispanic men and women for all stages combined is about 18%, slightly lower than that in non-Hispanic White patients (20%). Gallbladder cancer has nonspecific symptoms that typically result in a late stage at diagnosis, for which survival is generally poor.⁵⁷ Five-year survival for Hispanic patients diagnosed with localized disease is 62% but declines to 26% and 2% for those diagnosed with regional- and distant-stage disease, respectively.

Liver and Intrahepatic Bile Duct

New cases and deaths: In 2021, approximately 7,100 Hispanic individuals will be diagnosed with liver and intrahepatic bile duct (liver) cancer, with more than two-thirds of cases occurring in men. About 4,100 liver cancer deaths are expected to occur among Hispanic men and women in 2021. Similar to other racial/ethnic minority groups, Hispanic people overall have liver cancer incidence and death rates that are nearly double those in both non-Hispanic White men and women (Table 4). However, rates among Hispanic individuals differ substantially by nativity, sex, and country of origin, and may be strongly linked to acculturation and associated risk factors, particularly among men. US-born Hispanic men have higher liver cancer incidence and mortality than their foreign-born counterparts, whereas rates among Hispanic women are similar, regardless of nativity.⁶¹⁻⁶³

Incidence trends: The long-term rise in liver cancer incidence due to the hepatitis C virus epidemic among baby boomers (those born between 1945 and 1965) appears to be tapering off in men. From 2014 to 2018, rates were stable in both Hispanic men and non-Hispanic White men and women but increased by 2% in Hispanic women.

Mortality trends: Liver cancer death rates have stabilized in recent years among Hispanic men and non-Hispanic White men and women, but continued to increase among Hispanic women by 1.1% annually during 2015-2019.

Risk factors: Most liver cancer cases in the US are due to excess body weight, heavy alcohol use, smoking, and metabolic disorders because of the high prevalence of these risk factors.^{4, 64} Hispanic men and women have a higher prevelance of type 2 diabetes and excess body weight compared to non-Hispanic Whites (see page 21 and page 19, respectively)^{18, 65} and thus are likely to have a disproportionate burden of metabolic-associated liver cancer in the future.⁶⁶

Chronic infection with hepatitis B virus (HBV) or hepatitis C virus (HCV) is the strongest risk factor for liver cancer. Despite the relatively low prevalence in the US overall, HCV-infection accounts for the majority of liver cancer cases among Hispanic individuals in Florida.⁶⁶ Exposure to aflatoxin (a poison produced by a fungus that can grow in foods stored in moist, warm conditions) further increases liver cancer risk among individuals with chronic HBV/HCV infection and is also an important independent risk factor in some countries such as Mexico.⁶⁷ Primary prevention of liver cancer is available through vaccination against HBV infection and treatment for HBV and HCV (see page 22).

Stage distribution and survival: Five-year liver cancer survival among Hispanic and non-Hispanic White patients is similar (19%) (Figure 6). Even among the 45% of Hispanic patients diagnosed at a localized stage, 5-year survival is only 31%, which is why prevention is so important.

Stomach

New cases and deaths: In 2021, approximately 4,400 Hispanic people will be diagnosed with stomach cancer and an estimated 2,200 will die from the disease. Compared to non-Hispanic Whites, stomach cancer incidence rates in Hispanic individuals are 60% higher in men and more than double in women. Hispanic men and women also appear to have higher risk of stomach cancer before 50 years of age.⁶⁸

Incidence trends: From 2009-2018, incidence rates decreased by about 1% to 2% per year in Hispanic men and women and non-Hispanic White men but were stable among non-Hispanic White women. However, incidence rates may be increasing in Hispanic and non-Hispanic White young adults, the causes for which are unclear but may be related to dietary changes and subsequent alterations in the gut microbiome.^{69,70}

Mortality trends: Stomach cancer death rates decreased from 2010 to 2019 by 2% per year in Hispanic men and women, compared to declines of 3% per year in non-Hispanic White men and women.

Risk factors: Chronic infection with *Helicobacter pylori* (*H. pylori*) is the strongest known risk factor for stomach cancer.⁷¹⁻⁷³ (For more information about *H. pylori*, see page 22) Other important risk factors include smoking and excess consumption of alcohol, foods preserved with salt,

and/or processed meat.⁷⁴ Some studies have shown that fruits and non-starchy vegetables, particularly allium vegetables (e.g., garlic, onions, leeks), protect against stomach cancer.⁷⁵

Stage distribution and survival: Five-year stomach cancer survival in Hispanic men and women is 26% and 33%, respectively, slightly lower than that in non-Hispanic Whites (29% and 39%). Most cases among Hispanic patients are diagnosed at a distant stage (Figure 5), for which 5-year survival is 4%.

Uterine Cervix

New cases and deaths: In 2021, 2,700 Hispanic women in the US will be diagnosed with cancer of the uterine cervix, more commonly referred to as cervical cancer, and 600 are expected to die from the disease. Cervical cancer incidence and mortality among Hispanic women are about 30%-40% higher than those among non-Hispanic White women (Table 4). This, in part, reflects risk among women in Mexico and Central and South America, which is more than threefold higher than that among US women overall, largely due to less access to screening and higher prevalence of HPV infection.^{22, 54}

Incidence trends: Incidence rates in Hispanic and non-Hispanic White women have declined for decades but appear to have stabilized in recent years.

Mortality trends: Death rates decreased by 2.2% per year in Hispanic women and were stable in non-Hispanic White women from 2010 to 2019. However, rates also appear to be stabilizing in Hispanic women under 50 years of age.

Risk factors: Cervical cancer is caused by persistent infection with certain types of HPV. Smoking increases the risk of both persistent HPV infection and cervical cancer.⁷⁶

Prevention and early detection: Primary prevention is available through vaccination, which protects against the most common types of cancer-causing HPV. (For more

Table 6. Hispanic versus Non-Hispanic (NH) White Childhood and Adolescent Cancer Incidence Rates and Rate Ratios, US, 2014-2018

		Ages 0-14 years		Ages 15-19 years			
	Hispanic	NH White	Rate Ratio	Hispanic	NH White	Rate Ratio	
Leukemia	64.5	51.5	1.25	47.9	32.9	1.46	
Lymphoid leukemia	50.8	39.5	1.29	29.9	16.2	1.85	
Acute myeloid leukemia	8.2	7.2	1.14	10.2	9.3	1.10	
Brain & other central nervous system*	41.7	55.6	0.75	54.0	64.1	0.84	
Astrocytomas	14.2	22.4	0.63	8.3	16.3	0.51	
Lymphomas	22.1	23.3	0.95	41.2	59.9	0.69	
Hodgkin lymphoma	5.5	5.9	0.93	22.5	37.6	0.60	
Non-Hodgkin lymphoma (except Burkitt lymphoma)	7.1	7.8	0.91	14.5	16.5	0.88	
Burkitt lymphoma	1.7	3.2	0.53	1.5	2.8	0.55	
Soft-tissue sarcomas	10.6	11.3	0.94	15.4	15.5	1.00	
Neuroblastoma	7.4	14.0	0.53	0.9	1.2	0.78	
Bone tumors	7.6	8.2	0.93	13.3	15.4	0.86	
Osteosarcoma	4.6	3.9	1.17	7.7	7.6	1.02	
Renal tumors	7.0	9.4	0.75	1.5	2.1	0.74	
Germ cell tumors	6.4	5.3	1.21	39.9	26.4	1.51	
Malignant gonadal germ cell tumor	3.1	2.0	1.58	32.9	20.5	1.61	
Retinoblastoma	4.3	4.0	1.07	+	+	-	
Hepatic tumors	3.5	2.9	1.19	1.5	1.3	1.10	
All sites*	185.4	198.6	0.93	272.0	298.4	0.91	

Rates are per 1,000,000 and age adjusted to the 2000 US standard population. Rate ratios are the unrounded rates in Hispanic people divided by the unrounded rates in NH Whites. *Includes benign and borderline brain. †Data suppressed due to fewer than 25 cases. NOTE: Cancer types are listed in descending order by childhood cancer (ages 0-14 years) incidence rate.

Source: North American Association of Central Cancer Registries, 2021.

©2021, American Cancer Society, Inc., Surveillance and Health Equity Science

information about HPV vaccination, see page 23). Cervical cancer can also be prevented, through the removal of precancerous lesions detected, and detected early via screening. (For more information about cervical cancer screening, see page 24.)

Stage distribution and survival: Hispanic women are about as likely to be diagnosed with localized disease as non-Hispanic White women (45% in both groups) and overall 5-year survival is similar (68% versus 67%, respectively; Figure 6). Five-year survival for localized disease in Hispanic women is 92% but declines to 60% and 22% for regional- and distant-stage disease, respectively.

Cancer in Children and Adolescents

The types of cancer that most commonly occur in children (ages 0-14 years) and adolescents (ages 15-19 years) are different from those in adults. While risk factors are not well understood, some known causes include genetic abnormalities that can be passed from parent to child, radiation exposure, typically due to cancer treatment, and certain viral infections. For reasons that are unclear, childhood cancer (herein also referred to as pediatric cancer) is generally more common in economically developed than developing countries.⁷⁷

New cases and deaths: An estimated 2,900 Hispanic children (ages 0-14 years) will be diagnosed with cancer and 300 to 400 Hispanic children will die from the disease in 2021 (estimates are not available for adolescents due to sparse data).

Similar to non-Hispanic White children, leukemia is the most common cancer in Hispanic children, followed by cancers of the brain/central nervous system and lymphoma (Table 6). Among Hispanic adolescents, cancers of the brain/nervous system are the most common, followed by leukemia, lymphoma, and germ cell tumors.

Despite lower incidence rates for all cancers combined and most cancer types, Hispanic children and adolescents have much higher rates of leukemia, especially lymphoid leukemia during adolescence (Table 6). Hispanic children and adolescents have the highest rates of acute lymphocytic leukemia of any

Figure 7. Comparison of Common Childhood and Adolescent Cancer Incidence Rates by Race/Ethnicity, Ages 0-19 Years, 2014-2018



NH: Non-Hispanic. ONS: other nervous system. Rates are age adjusted to the 2000 US standard population. *Includes benign and borderline brain tumors. †Data based on Indian Health Service Contract Health Service Delivery Area counties. Rates should be interpreted with caution due to small case numbers. **Source:** NAACCR, 2021.

©2021, American Cancer Society, Inc., Surveillance and Health Equity Science

racial and ethnic groups in the US, nearly double those of non-Hispanic Black children, who have the lowest rates (Figure 7). Though genetic abnormalities appear to be responsible for some proportion of leukemia in Hispanic children, few risk factors other than radiation exposure are well established.^{27, 78} Incidence rates among Hispanic and non-Hispanic White children are similar for Hodgkin lymphoma and non-Hodgkin lymphoma (NHL) and lower in Hispanic adolescents, although variations in risk have been reported among Hispanic groups by country of origin and nativity status.^{79, 80}

Incidence trends: From 2009 to 2018, incidence rates increased, on average, by 0.7% and 1.3% per year among Hispanic children and adolescents, respectively, similar to trends in non-Hisapnic Whites.

Mortality trends: Death rates for all cancers combined declined from 2010 to 2019 by 1% per year among

Hispanic children and 2% per year among Hispanic adolescents, similar to non-Hispanic Whites.

Survival: Over the past 30 years, there have been substantial improvements in 5-year survival for most childhood cancers, largely attributable to advances in treatment and the high proportion of patients participating in clinical trials. However, survival among Hispanic children generally remains lower than among non-Hispanic Whites for all cancers combined and for many cancers. Five-year survival for all cancers combined for patients diagnosed during 2011-2017 was 84% among both Hispanic children and adolescents, compared to 87% and 88% among non-Hispanic Whites. The largest survival disparities are for brain/other nervous system tumors among children (Hispanic: 67%; non-Hispanic White: 78%) and leukemia among adolescents (71% versus 82%).

Cancer Risk Factors

Abstaining from tobacco use, maintaining a healthy body weight, having a physically active lifestyle, and consuming a healthy diet can greatly reduce a person's lifetime risk of developing or dying from cancer.⁴ In addition, certain cancers caused by infectious agents disproportionately affect Hispanic individuals but could be prevented through behavioral changes, vaccination, or treatment of the infection. This section provides information about major cancer risk factors and their prevalence among the Hispanic population based on population-based national survey data. It is important to note that data by nativity or country of origin are limited for some risk factors. For information about cancer risk factors beyond what is included in this chapter, visit cancer.org/research/ cancer-facts-statistics.html for the latest edition of Cancer Prevention & Early Detection Facts & Figures.

Tobacco

Tobacco use remains the most preventable cause of death, accounting for about 30% of all US cancer deaths when all races/ethnicities are combined.^{4, 81} Cigarette smoking increases the risk of 12 cancers (oral cavity and pharynx, larynx, lung, esophagus, pancreas, uterine cervix, kidney, bladder, stomach, colorectum, liver, and acute myeloid leukemia).⁷⁶ Evidence suggests that smoking may also increase the risk of fatal prostate cancer, as well as a rare type of ovarian cancer.^{76, 82, 83}

• Cigarette smoking prevalence is, and has historically been, lower among Hispanic adults than non-

Hispanic White adults, especially among women.⁸⁴ In 2019, current cigarette smoking prevalence was more similar among men (Hispanic: 12%; non-Hispanic White: 16%) than women (Hispanic: 6%; non-Hispanic White: 16%) (Table 7).

- In 2017-2018, smoking prevalence varied by Hispanic group, ranging from 6% in Central/ South Americans to 17% among Puerto Ricans.
- By nativity, US-born Hispanic women are more than twice as likely to currently smoke compared to foreign-born Hispanic women (10% vs. 3%, respectively), whereas rates in men are more similar (13% versus 11%).
- Smoking prevalence among Hispanic high school students peaked in the mid-1990s and decreased rapidly until 2003, but since has declined at a slower pace. In 2020, cigarette smoking prevalence in Hispanic high school students was the same as that in non-Hispanic White students (5%) (Table 8).
- Hispanic middle school students had higher levels of any tobacco product (9%) use and any combustible tobacco product use (5%) than non-Hispanic White students (6% and 2%, respectively).
- E-cigarette use in 2020 among high school students was slightly lower among Hispanics (19%) than among non-Hispanic Whites (23%) (Table 8), but among middle school students was higher among Hispanic (8%) than among non-Hispanic White (4%).⁸⁵

Table 7. Current Cigarette Smoking, Electronic Cigarette Use, and Alcohol Consumption (%), Adults 18 Years and Older, US, 2017-2019

		Hispanic		Non-Hispanic White				
_	Male	Female	Total	Male	Female	Total		
Cigarette smoking* (NHIS 2019)	12	6	9	16	16	16		
Origin† (NHIS 2017-18)								
Puerto Rican	17	16	17	_	-	-		
Mexican	14	6	10	_	-	-		
Cuban	7	12	9	_	-	-		
Dominican	**	**	**	_	_	-		
Central/South American	9	4	6	_	_	-		
Education (25 years and older)								
≤12 yrs, no diploma	**	**	14	36	27	34		
GED	**	**	22	37	41	38		
HS diploma	15	5	10	26	25	25		
Some college	9	6	7	18	19	19		
College degree	8	5	7	6	6	6		
Poverty Status‡								
Poor	15	10	12	33	36	35		
Near poor	13	5	8	30	29	30		
Non poor	10	5	8	13	11	12		
Health Insurance Status (18 to 64 years)								
Uninsured	14	6	10	32	35	33		
Insured	11	7	9	16	16	16		
mmigration status§								
US-born	13	10	11	16	16	16		
Foreign-born	11	3	7	17	8	13		
E-cigarette use¶ (NHIS 2019)	3	2	2	7	5	6		
Alcohol consumption# (NHIS 2018)	66	50	58	75	72	73		
_ight	33	29	31	33	37	35		
Moderate	18	4	11	26	12	19		
Binge	31	14	23	36	27	32		
Origin† (NHIS 2017-2018)								
Puerto Rican	23	21	22	-	_	-		
Mexican	34	14	24	-	_	-		
Cuban	24	**	16	_	-	-		
Dominican	**	**	17	_	-	-		
Central/South American	26	11	18	_	_	_		

GED: General Educational Development high school equivalency; HS: high school. *Ever smoked 100 cigarettes in lifetime and smoking every day or some days at time of survey. †Estimates based on 2017 and 2018 National Health Interview Survey data combined. Poor: <99% of poverty threshold. Near poor: 100% to \leq 199% of poverty threshold. Non Poor: \geq 200% of poverty threshold. §US-born includes those born in a US territory. ¶Using e-cigarettes every day or some days at time of survey. #Current consumption: 12+ drinks in lifetime and \geq 1 drink in past year. Light: 12+ drinks in lifetime and \leq 3 drinks/week in past year. Or (female) 3-7 drinks/week in past year or (female) \geq 5 or (female) \geq 4 drinks on at least one day in the past year. **Estimate not provided due to instability. NOTE: Estimates are age adjusted to the 2000 US standard population. Estimates in this report may differ from earlier reports due to revised weights issued for the National Health Interview Survey.

Source: National Health Interview Surveys, 2017, 2018, and 2019.

©2021, American Cancer Society, Inc., Surveillance and Health Equity Science

Smoking Cessation

Quitting smoking reduces the risk of all cancers caused by smoking.⁸⁶ People who successfully quit smoking can add as much as a decade of life expectancy and reduce their risk of lung cancer by half after quitting for 10-15 years compared to people who continue to smoke.⁸⁶ Quitting at any age is beneficial to health, but the benefit is greatest when done at a younger age. Smoking

		Hispanic	Non-Hispanic White			
	Male	Female	Total	Male	Female	Total
Current tobacco use (2020)*						
Cigarette smoking	3	6	5	5	6	5
E-cigarette	16	21	19	24	23	23
Alcohol consumption (2019)						
Current alcohol uset	22	33	28	33	36	34
Binge drinking‡	10	15	12	17	18	17
Drank before age 13 years§	20	16	18	15	11	13

111.1.0 1011

*Smoked cigarettes or used e-cigarettes on one or more of the 30 days preceding the survey. †Had one or more drinks of alcohol on one or more of the 30 days preceding the survey. #Had five or more drinks of alcohol in a row within a couple of hours on one or more of the 30 days preceding the survey. SOther than a few sips Sources: Tobacco use: Gentzke AS, et al. MMWR Morb Mortal Wkly Rep 2020; 69:1881-1888. Alcohol use: Jones CM, et al. MMWR Morbid Mortal Wkly Rep. 2020; 69(1):38-46

©2021, American Cancer Society, Inc., Surveillance and Health Equity Science

cessation programs for Hispanic individuals are more effective if they are culturally tailored (incorporating cultural beliefs and values, enhancing language services) to both the patient and provider.⁸⁷ For information about the American Cancer Society's tobacco cessation initiatives and resources, visit cancer.org/healthy/stayaway-from-tobacco/guide-quitting-smoking.html or contact the American Cancer Society at 1-800-227-2345.

- Among people who reported ever smoking, about the same proportion of Hispanic (62%) and non-Hispanic White (64%) persons had quit smoking in 2019.
- Among current smokers, Hispanic persons were as likely to report a past-year quit attempt and success in a recent quit attempt (59% and 7%, respectively) compared to non-Hispanic White persons (53% and 8%, respectively).88
- In 2018-2019, receipt of a medical doctor's advice to quit smoking and use of evidence-based cessation aids among current smokers was lower in Hispanic persons (62% and 25%, respectively) than non-Hispanic White (73% and 36%) and Black (72% and 30%) persons, which may be partly related to less access to care.^{88, 87}

Excess Body Weight, Alcohol, Diet, and Physical Activity

Aside from avoiding tobacco use, maintaining a healthy weight, staying active throughout life, following a

healthy eating pattern, and avoiding or limiting alcohol consumption are among the most effective strategies for reducing cancer risk.⁸⁹ An estimated 18% of cancer cases and 16% of cancer deaths are attributable to the combined effects of excess body weight, alcohol consumption, physical inactivity, and consuming an unhealthy diet.⁴

Excess body weight

There is convincing evidence that excess body weight is associated with an increased risk for developing 13 cancers: uterine corpus, esophagus (adenocarcinoma), liver, stomach (gastric cardia), kidney (renal cell), brain (meningioma), multiple myeloma, pancreas, colorectum, gallbladder, ovary, female breast (postmenopausal), and thyroid.⁹⁰ Excess weight may also increase the risk of non-Hodgkin lymphoma (diffuse large B-cell lymphoma), male breast cancer, and fatal prostate cancer. Accumulating evidence suggests that excess body weight is also associated with decreased survival for several cancers.⁹¹

Historical trends in the prevalence of measured (versus self-reported) overweight (defined as body mass index [BMI] 25.0-29.9 kg/m²) and obesity (BMI \ge 30.0 kg/m²) are only available for Hispanic persons of Mexican descent (Figure 8), although contemporary data are available for all Hispanic individuals (Figure 9).

The American Cancer Society's Nutrion and Physical Activity Guidelines⁸⁹

Recommendations for individuals

1. Achieve and maintain a healthy weight throughout life.

- Keep body weight within the healthy range and avoid weight gain in adult life.
- 2. Be physically active.
 - Adults should engage in 150-300 minutes of moderate-intensity physical activity per week, or 75-150 minutes of vigorous-intensity physical activity, or an equivalent combination; achieving or exceeding the upper limit of 300 minutes is optimal.
- Children and adolescents should engage in at least 1 hour of moderate- or vigorous-intensity activity each day.
- Limit sedentary behavior, such as sitting, lying down, and other forms of screen-based entertainment.

3. Follow a healthy eating pattern at all ages.

A healthy eating pattern includes:

- Foods that are high in nutrients in amounts that help achieve and maintain a healthy body weight;
- A variety of vegetables dark green, red, and orange, fiber-rich legumes (beans and peas); and others;
- Whole grains.
- Among adults, obesity prevalence has historically been highest by far among Mexican women compared to non-Hispanic Whites and Mexican men, although steep increases among the latter since the early 2000s have resulted in similar contemporary rates in Mexican men and women (Figure 8).⁹²
- In 2017-2018, the prevalence of excess body weight (overweight or obese) was higher in Hispanic (men: 88%; women: 79%) than non-Hispanic White adults (men: 75%; women: 66%), largely because Hispanic individuals were 9%-11% more likely (in absolute terms) to be overweight (Figure 9).
- The prevalence of obesity has tripled among Mexican and non-Hispanic White adolescents since the late 1970s, although since 1999-2002 increases have been restricted to Mexican Americans (Figure 8).⁹²

A healthy eating pattern limits or does not include:

- Red and processed meats;
- Sugar-sweetened beverages; or
- Highly processed foods and refined-grain products.
- 4. It is best not to drink alcohol.
- People who do choose to drink alcohol should limit their consumption to no more than 1 drink per day for women and 2 drinks per day for men.

Recommendation for Community Action

Public, private, and community organizations should work collaboratively at national, state, and local levels to develop, advocate for, and implement policy and environmental changes that increase access to affordable, nutritious foods; provide safe, enjoyable, and accessible opportunities for physical activity; and limit alcohol for individuals.

*Weight recommendations are often determined by body mass index (BMI), which is a function of weight to height squared. BMI categories for adults: healthy weight=18.5 to 24.9 kg/m², overweight=25.0 to 29.9 kg/m², obese=30.0 kg/m² or higher. BMI categories for children are based on percentile rankings and growth charts.

 In 2017-2018, obesity prevalence in Hispanic adolescents ages 12-19 years was 11% higher than that of non-Hispanic whites in boys (30% versus 19%), and 9% higher in girls (25% versus 16%) (Figure 9).

Alcohol

The American Cancer Society recommends that it is best to avoid alcohol. People who drink alcohol should limit their intake to no more than two drinks per day for men and one drink per day for women.⁸⁹ Alcohol consumption is an established risk factor for cancers of the mouth, pharynx, larynx, esophagus, liver, colorectum, and female breast.⁷⁵ Heavy drinking (3 to 4 drinks per day) may also increase the risk of stomach and pancreatic cancer.⁹³ Cancer risk increases with alcohol volume, and even a few drinks per week may be associated with a slightly increased risk of female breast cancer.⁹⁴ Combined with tobacco use, alcohol consumption increases the risk of cancers of the mouth, larynx, and esophagus far beyond the independent effect of drinking or smoking alone.95,96 Alcohol consumption is of special concern among Hispanic individuals because of their high rates of liver cancer.⁶

- In 2018, Hispanic adults were less likely to drink alcohol than non-Hispanic Whites (59% versus 73%) and to binge-drink (23% versus 32%), although differences for men were smaller (Table 7).
- In 2019, the prevalence of current alcohol consumption among high school students was also lower in Hispanic than non-Hispanic White students (28% versus 34%), although, in contrast to adults, the difference was larger and the prevalence lower for males (Hispanic: 22%; non-Hispanic White: 33%) than females (Hispanic: 33%; non-Hispanic White: 36%) (Table 8).
- The prevalence of drinking before age 13 was higher among Hispanic youth (Hispanic: 18%; non-Hispanic White: 13%) (Table 8).

Diet

Diet patterns high in processed and red meat, starchy foods, refined carbohydrates, and sugary drinks are associated with a higher risk of developing cancer (primarily colorectal).^{95,97} Conversely, dietary patterns emphasizing a variety of fruits and vegetables, whole grains, legumes, and fish or poultry and fewer red and processed meats are associated with reduced risk. In general, compared to White adults, Hispanic adults consume a higher proportion of sugar-sweetened beverages (14% of total beverages consumed versus 9%, respectively, during 2015-2018)98 and a lower amount of whole grains (11% of total grains consumed versus 17% during 2013-2016).99

Physical Activity

Physical activity can decrease the risk of breast, colon (but not rectal), bladder, esophageal (adenocarcinoma), endometrial, kidney, stomach (cardia) and possibly lung cancer.^{95, 100-102} In addition, there is mounting evidence that greater time spent in sedentary





behavior may increase colon and endometrial cancer risk.¹⁰³ Lower levels of leisure-time physical activity may contribute to the higher prevalence of obesity in Hispanic adults;¹⁰⁴ in 2018, 34% of Hispanic adults reported no leisure-time physical activity, compared to 22% of non-Hispanic whites.88

Type 2 Diabetes

30

20

10

Type 2 diabetes, a chronic condition in which the body loses its ability to respond to the hormone insulin, shares several modifiable risk factors with cancer.



Figure 9. Excess Body Weight (%) in Hispanic and Non-Hispanic (NH) White People by Age, US, 2017-2018

*In ages \geq 20 years, 25.0 kg/m² \leq BMI < 30.0 kg/m². In ages 12-19 years, BMI at or above 85th percentile but below 95th percentile of CDC growth chart. \pm In ages \geq 20 years, BMI \geq 30.0 kg/m². In ages 12-19 years, BMI at or above 95th percentile of CDC growth chart. NOTE: Sum of estimates for overweight and obese may not equal total excess body weight value presented due to rounding. Estimates for ages \geq 20 years are age adjusted to 2000 US standard population. **Sources:** National Health and Nutrition Examination Survey Data, 2017-2018. Obesity in ages \geq 20 years: Hales CM, et al. National Center for Health Statistics. 2017.

©2021, American Cancer Society, Inc., Surveillance and Health Equity Science

including excess body weight, poor diet, and lack of physical activity. However, a growing body of literature suggests that type 2 diabetes increases risk for several cancer types independent of these factors, including those of the liver, endometrium, pancreas, colorectum, kidney, bladder, breast, and perhaps ovary.¹⁰⁵⁻¹⁰⁷

Hispanic individuals have more than a 50% lifetime risk of developing type 2 diabetes, versus 40% in the general population. Despite this disproportionate impact, few large studies have assessed the association between type 2 diabetes and cancer risk among Hispanic populations,^{108, 109} and further research on this topic is needed. An estimated 15% of Hispanic adults report being diagnosed with type 2 diabetes, with higher prevalence among some groups , compared to 12% of non-Hispanic White adults.¹¹⁰ Hispanic individuals are also 50% more likely to die from the disease.¹¹¹

Infectious Agents

Helicobacter pylori (H. pylori)

H. pylori is a bacterium that grows in the stomach. Although it rarely causes symptoms, chronic infection can cause inflammation and damage to the stomach lining that may eventually lead to stomach cancer (see page 14 for more information about stomach cancer).^{112, 113} *H. pylori* infection in the US was about three times higher among Mexican Americans than among non-Hispanic Whites in one population-based study (64% versus 21%, respectively).¹¹⁴ Higher prevalence among Hispanic Americans largely reflects background rates in countries of origin among foreign-born individuals.^{115, 116}

Hepatitis B Virus (HBV) and Hepatitis C Virus (HCV)

Infection with HBV or HCV becomes chronic when the immune system is unable to clear the virus. Chronic infection with these viruses can cause cirrhosis and liver cancer^{117, 118} and is increasingly recognized as a risk factor for non-Hodgkin lymphoma.¹¹⁹

HBV: Most (95%) newly infected adults will clear the virus within six months of infection, whereas the majority of infected infants will become chronically infected.¹¹⁸ Vaccination against HBV has been available since 1982 and is the primary prevention strategy. Those who should be vaccinated include infants, all youth under 19 years of age who have not been vaccinated, and unvaccinated adults who are at high risk for infection (e.g., health care workers, travelers to regions with HBV).¹²⁰

- In 2019, 87% of Hispanic adolescents had received at least three HBV vaccine doses, similar to non-Hispanic Whites (94%).¹²¹ However, vaccination coverage among foreign-born adolescents specifically is substantially lower.¹²²
- During 2015-2018, the prevalence of past or current HBV infection was higher among Hispanic adults (3.8%) compared to non-Hispanic White adults (2.1%), and highest among those born outside of the US.¹²³

HCV: Most people with HCV will become chronically infected and are unaware of their infection until symptoms of liver disease develop. In contrast to HBV infection, there is no vaccine to protect against HCV. Primary prevention strategies include both educating uninfected individuals who are at high risk for infection about exposure prevention and counseling infected individuals about how to avoid transmission to others. In 2020, the US Preventive Services Task Force updated their guidelines recommending one-time screening among all men and women ages 18 to 79 years.¹²⁴ Those who test positive for HCV are advised to begin antiviral treatment in order to reduce health effects related to HCV infection, including liver cancer.

In 2019, the rate of newly reported chronic infections of HCV was 14.1 cases per 100,000 Hispanic persons in comparison to 34.0 cases per 100,000 non-Hispanic White persons.¹²⁵

Human Papillomavirus (HPV)

HPV is the most common sexually transmitted infection in the US, with approximately 43 million HPV infections in 2018.¹²⁶ Although most HPV infections are cleared by the body and do not cause cancer, virtually all cervical

American Cancer Society Recommendations for HPV Vaccine Use

- HPV vaccination works best when given to boys and girls between ages 9 and 12 years.
- Teenagers and young adults ages 13 through 26 years who have not been vaccinated or who have not received all of their shots should get the vaccine as soon as possible. Vaccination of young adults will not prevent as many cancers as vaccination of children and teens.
- The American Cancer Society does not recommend HPV vaccination for persons older than 26 years.

cancers are caused by persistent HPV infection. HPV infection also causes 90% of anal cancers, about 70% of certain types of oropharyngeal cancers, and 60%-70% of vaginal, vulvar, and penile cancers.¹²⁷ Cervical cancer is the most common HPV-related cancer in women, and oropharyngeal cancer is the most common in men.¹²⁸ There are more than 100 types of HPV, only about 14 of which cause cancer.¹²⁹ Types 16 and 18 account for about 70% of all cervical cancer cases worldwide and almost all other HPV-related cancers.

Vaccination protects against nine HPV types and has the potential to avert nearly 90% of cancers caused by HPV.¹³⁰ The American Cancer Society's 2020 HPV vaccination guidelines recommend routine vaccination of both girls and boys between 9 and 12 years of age (see sidebar).¹³¹ However, all women, including those who have been vaccinated, should receive regular cervical cancer screening because the vaccines do not protect against all types of HPV that can cause cervical cancer (see page 24).

- In 2013-2016, the prevalence of high-risk oral HPV infection was similar among Hispanic (3%) and non-Hispanic White (4%) persons ages 18-69 years. In ages 18-59 years, high-risk genital HPV prevalence was also similar among Hispanic (26%) and non-Hispanic White (27%) persons.
- In 2019, a higher proportion of Hispanic adolescents ages 13-17 years had initiated HPV vaccination than non-Hispanic Whites, for both girls (79% versus 71%, respectively) and boys (75% versus 66%,

respectively);¹²¹ Hispanic youths were also more likely to have completed the vaccination series, 63% versus 54% in girls and 53% versus 49% in boys.

Human Immunodeficiency Virus (HIV)

The weakened immune system of people with HIV/ AIDS indirectly increases their risk of several cancers, including Kaposi sarcoma, non-Hodgkin lymphoma, and cervical cancer.¹³² People infected with HIV are at an increased risk for other cancer-causing infectious agents (e.g., Kaposi sarcoma herpesvirus, HCV, HBV, and HPV), in part due to shared routes of transmission.¹³³ HIVinfected individuals also have higher rates of lung cancer, which is thought to be related to higher smoking rates in this population, as well as immunosuppression.^{132, 134} In 2018, the rate of newly diagnosed HIV was over 3 times higher in Hispanic individuals than in Whites, with the majority of cases occurring in men.¹³⁵

Cancer Screening

Regular screening can detect some cancers at an early stage and improve the likelihood of successful treatment. Screening also can contribute to the prevention of cervical and colorectal cancers by detecting precancerous growths that can be removed. The American Cancer Society guidelines for the early detection of cancer are available at cancer.org/healthy/ find-cancer-early/cancer-screening-guidelines/American-cancersociety-guidelines-for-the-early-detection-of-cancer.html. For information on cancer screening beyond what is included in this chapter, please visit cancer.org/research/ cancer-facts-statistics.html to review the latest edition of *Cancer Prevention & Early Detection Facts & Figures.*

Breast Cancer Screening

Mammography is a low-dose x-ray procedure that can detect breast cancer early when treatment may be more effective. The 2015 American Cancer Society guidelines recommend that women with an average risk begin screening at 45 years of age, with an option to begin screening at age 40; see page 37 for detailed screening recommendations.

- In 2018, the prevalence of up-to-date mammography screening among women 45 years of age or older was 60% in Hispanic women compared to 64% in non-Hispanic White women (Table 9).
- Mammography use varies substantially across groups by country of origin, ranging from 59% in Mexican women to 68% in Central/South

American women. Differences in length of time in the US and access to health insurance across different groups by country of origin may partly explain these differences.¹³⁶

Cervical Cancer Screening

Regular use of Papanicolaou (Pap) and HPV tests followed by appropriate and timely treatment can help prevent both cervical cancer occurrence and death.¹³⁷ In 2020, the American Cancer Society recommended that women ages 25 to 65 should have a primary HPV test every 5 years; if primary HPV testing is not available, acceptable alternatives are an HPV test with a Pap test every 5 years or a Pap test alone every 3 years (see page 37).

- In 2018, 83% of Hispanic women ages 25-65 years were up to date with cervical cancer screening compared to 86% of non-Hispanic Whites (Table 9).
- Across Hispanic groups, screening prevalence ranges from 80% in Puerto Rican women to 91% in Dominican women.
- US-born Hispanic women are more likely than Hispanic immigrants (particularly those who recently emigrated) to have reported cervical cancer screening.^{138, 139}

Table 9. Cancer Screening Test Use (%), Adults, US, 2018

	Hispanic		Hispanic Origin					NH White	
	All	Uninsured (≤64 years)	Mexican	Puerto Rican	Cuban	Central/ South American	Dominican	All	Uninsured (≤64 years)
Cervical cancer screening (women 25-65 years)*									
Pap test within the past three years	81	66	79	76	81	88	88	83	58
Up-to-date†	83	69	81	80	89	88	91	86	64
Breast cancer screening (women 45+ years)									
Up-to-date	60	35	59	60	60	68	§	64	28
Colorectal cancer screening‡									
Overall									
Ages 45+ years	49	19	45	62	50	54	48	58	25
Ages 50+ years	59	27	55	76	58	61	§	68	30
Males									
Ages 45+ years	50	17	46	61	53	49	§	59	23
Ages 50+ years	60	24	55	76	§	59	§	69	30
Females									
Ages 45+ years	49	22	45	64	47	58	§	57	27
Ages 50+ years	58	31	54	74	§	63	§	66	30

NH: Non-Hispanic. *Among women with intact uteri. †Pap test in the past 3 years among women 25-65 years of age OR Pap test and HPV test within the past 5 years among women 30-64 years of age. ‡Fecal occult blood test (FOBT) in past year, sigmoidoscopy in past five years, or colonoscopy in past 10 years. Utilization of computed tomography colonography (CTC) in the past 5 years was <2% and incorporating CTC into the overall screening estimates did not alter results and is not included in the above estimates. §Estimate not provided due to instability. NOTE: Estimates are age adjusted to the 2000 US standard population and do not distinguish between examinations for screening and diagnosis.

Source: National Health Interview Survey, 2018.

©2021, American Cancer Society, Inc., Surveillance and Health Equity Science

Colorectal Cancer Screening

Colorectal cancer (CRC) screening can prevent cancer through the detection and removal of precancerous growths and can detect cancer at an early stage, when treatment is usually less intensive and more successful. The American Cancer Society recommends that colorectal cancer screening begin at age 45 for persons at average risk (see screening recommendations on page 37).

- In 2018, CRC screening prevalence among adults 45 years of age and older were lower in Hispanic adults (49%) than among non-Hispanic Whites (58%) (Table 9). These differences are largely driven by lower use of colonoscopy in Hispanic adults, as use of stool tests is higher among Hispanic than non-Hispanic White adults.
- Screening uptake also varies widely by Hispanic origin, ranging from 55% among adults of Mexican descent to 76% among Puerto Rican adults (data limited to ages 50 years and older).

Prostate Cancer Screening

The American Cancer Society recommends that asymptomatic men 50 years and older, with at least a 10-year life expectancy have an opportunity to make an informed decision with their health care provider about whether to be screened for prostate cancer using PSA testing. Studies have shown that informed and shared decision measures are inconsistently utilized in clinical practice.¹⁴⁰ In 2018, 30% of Hispanic men received a PSA test in the past year compared to 37% of non-Hispanic White men.

Lung Cancer Screening

A large randomized clinical trial among former and current heavy smokers showed a 20% reduction in lung cancer deaths among those screened for lung cancer with low-dose spiral computed tomography (LDCT) compared with chest x-ray.⁵² In 2013, the American Cancer Society began recommending annual lung cancer screening with LDCT screening, with shared

The National Colorectal Cancer Roundtable

The National Colorectal Cancer Roundtable (NCCRT), established in 1997 by the American Cancer Society and the CDC, is a coalition of more than 150 member organizations and individual experts dedicated to reducing CRC incidence and mortality in the US through coordinated leadership, strategic planning, and advocacy.

The NCCRT's 80% in Every Community initiative aims to substantially reduce CRC as a major public health problem by increasing colorectal screening rates to 80% or higher in communities across the nation. Over 1,800 organizations - including health plans, medical professional societies, hospitals, health systems, survivor groups, government agencies, and cancer coalitions - pledged to make this goal a priority. The initiative focuses on addressing persistent screening rate disparities so that every community can benefit from lifesaving CRC screening. The NCCRT has produced the Hispanics/Latinos and Colorectal Cancer Companion Guide, which includes recommendations for reaching unscreened Hispanics/ Latinos and Spanish language-tested messages. The guide is available at http://nccrt.org/resource/ hispanicslatinos-colorectal-cancer-companion-guide/

The National Lung Cancer Roundtable

In 2017, the American Cancer Society launched the National Lung Cancer Roundtable (NLCRT), a national coalition of 143 public, private, and voluntary organizations, and invited individuals dedicated to reducing lung cancer incidence, morbidity, and mortality in the United States. Through coordinated leadership, strategic planning, advocacy, and action, the Roundtable serves as a catalyst to stimulate greater levels of collaborative engagement among its 143 member organizations to work on key lung cancer issues.

decision making, for healthy adults ages 55-74 years who have at least a 30 pack-year smoking history and who currently smoke or have quit within the past 15 years (see screening recommendations on page 37).¹⁴¹ In 2021, the US Preventive Services Task Force (USPSTF) expanded their lung cancer screening eligibility criteria by lowering the recommended age to begin screening to 50 years and pack-year threshold to 20.¹⁴² These changes increased the proportion of Hispanic adults eligible for lung cancer screening, but not at the same level as non-Hispanic White adults.¹⁴³ The American Cancer Society will be begin updating their guidelines in 2021.

Implementation of lung cancer screening remains a challenge. Although population-based data for the Hispanic community have not been published, the prevalence of lung cancer screening in 2018 was only 5%-6% among all eligible adults in the US and lower in states with a greater Hispanic population.¹⁴⁴

Strategies to Improve Cancer Screening

Barriers to cancer screening are not mutually exclusive and occur and interact at multiple levels, including policy, health system, provider, community, and individual levels. Hispanic persons face systematic and structural barriers to health care and cancer screening. For example, Hispanic adults are less likely to have insurance and are less likely to receive a physician recommendation for screening, which is a necessary step and a key predictor of cancer screening utilization.¹⁴⁵ Other barriers include lack of paid sick leave and other employment-related constraints, which may be more prominent in the Hispanic community.¹⁴⁶ Culturally appropriate interventions, including patient navigation, engagement with community health workers, and tailored small media, are effective strategies for improving screening rates among Hispanic adults.^{147, 148}

The CDC has established two national programs to improve cancer screening access and uptake that target low-income and medically underserved communities:

• The National Breast and Cervical Cancer Early Detection Program (NBCCEDP) provides access to breast and cervical cancer screening and diagnostic services among women who are uninsured or underinsured. In 2019 alone, more than 140,000 and 280,000 women received cervical and breast cancer screening services, respectively, nearly half of whom identified as Hispanic (https://www.cdc.gov/cancer/nbccedp/about.htm). The goal of the CDC's Colorectal Cancer Control Program (CRCCP) is to implement evidence-based strategies to improve CRC screening and follow-up. To date the CRCCP has 35 state, university (managing state programs), and tribal grantees that partner with health systems to increase CRC screening. In Puerto Rico, the Comprehensive Control Plan: 2014-2020 is a strategic plan to reduce the cancer burden in the territory using evidence-based strategies for cancer control, including increasing the prevalence of up-to-date cervical cancer screening among women ages 21-65 years to 80%, with a specific emphasis on increasing screening among uninsured women.¹⁴⁹

The American Cancer Society

The American Cancer Society is on a mission to free the world from cancer. For more than 100 years, we have helped lead an evolution in the way the world prevents, detects, treats, and thinks about cancer As the nation's preeminent cancer-fighting organization, we fund and conduct research, share expert information, support people with cancer, spread the word about prevention, and advocate for public policy change through our advocacy affiliate, American Cancer Society Cancer Action NetworkSM (ACS CAN). We are committed to ensuring that ALL people have a fair and just opportunity to prevent, find, treat, and survive cancer − regardless of income, race and ethnicity, sexual orientation, gender identity, disability status, or where they live.

Patient and Caregiver Services

The American Cancer Society provides people with cancer and their caregivers with the facts they need to fuel their fight against cancer. We are a highly trusted source of accurate, evidence-based cancer information and provide information, tools, and resources for those who are at risk for cancer, are facing a cancer diagnosis, have a history of cancer, are caring for someone with cancer, or just want to learn about cancer. Our online resources also help people find ways to live longer, healthier lives, reduce their cancer risk, and understand the importance of cancer screenings.

Cancer Information

Our trained, caring staff provide information and support when and where people need it. Our National Cancer Information Center (NCIC) provides answers and support 24/7 via our live helpline at 1-800-227-2345. Live chat and video chat sessions are also available. We also help people living in the US who speak languages other than English find the assistance they need at cancer.org/easyreading or cancer.org/cancer-information-in-other-languages.

Programs and Services

Survivorship: Having cancer impacts the entire person, and each person's experience with cancer is unique. American Cancer Society survivorship work aims to help people adjusting to, living with, and moving beyond cancer from diagnosis through long-term survivorship to the end of life. Efforts focus on helping survivors manage their ongoing physical, psychosocial, functional, and socioeconomic problems and engage in healthy behaviors to optimize their wellness. Our posttreatment survivorship care guidelines are designed to promote survivor health and quality of life by facilitating the delivery of high-quality, comprehensive, coordinated clinical follow-up care. Our survivorship research efforts focus on understanding the impact of cancer on survivors' lives and on developing and testing interventions to help survivors actively engage in their health care and improve their health and well-being through and beyond treatment. Through the National Cancer Survivorship Resource Center, a collaboration between the American Cancer Society and the George Washington University Cancer Institute funded by the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, we created the Cancer Survivorship E-Learning Series for Primary Care Providers. This free e-learning program continues to teach clinicians how to care for survivors of adult-onset cancers.

Support for caregivers: Cancer not only affects the individual diagnosed, but also impacts an entire family unit and network of close friends who often must provide care for their loved one throughout diagnosis and treatment. One of the informational tools we offer is our Caregiver Resource Guide (https://www.cancer.org/content/ dam/cancer-org/cancer-control/en/booklets-flyers/americancancer-society-caregiver-resource-guide.pdf), which helps caregivers learn to care for themselves as they provide care for a loved one; better understand what their loved one is going through; develop skills for coping and caring; and take steps to help protect their own health and well-being. Another helpful resource is our Caregiver Support Video Series (cancer.org/caregivervideos), which provides educational support to caregivers as they assist with everyday needs of loved ones, as well as self-care techniques to improve their quality of life. Both resources are available in English and Spanish.

Transportation to treatment: The American Cancer Society Road To Recovery[®] program removes barriers to cancer treatment by providing free transportation for people facing cancer through trained volunteer drivers.

Lodging during treatment: Our Hope Lodge[®] communities provide a home away from home for people with cancer and their caregivers in a supportive, caring environment so they can focus on getting better.

Breast cancer support: The American Cancer Society Reach To Recovery[®] program connects people facing breast cancer with one-on-one support – from diagnosis through survivorship – from trained volunteers who are breast cancer survivors. These volunteers help people facing breast cancer cope with diagnosis, treatment, side effects, and more.

Hair-loss and mastectomy products: Our "*tlc*" *Tender Loving Care*^{*} program helps women with appearancerelated side effects of cancer treatment by offering them a variety of affordable wigs, hats, and scarves, as well as a full range of mastectomy products. These items can be purchased from the privacy of home by calling 1-800-850-9445 or visiting the "*tlc*"TM website at tlcdirect.org. **Finding hope and inspiration:** The American Cancer Society Cancer Survivors Network[®] virtual communities provide people facing cancer and survivors the opportunity to learn more and connect with others who can be a source of support and comfort. Our safe online community offers survivors and caregivers a place to share their stories, ask questions, and get support from each other.

Patient Support in Puerto Rico

The Puerto Rico Patient Service Center provides people with cancer and providers in Puerto Rico with information on a range of issues, including health insurance and financial assistance for treatment. Because of COVID-19, the Center specialists and navigators are operating virtually as of summer 2021. They hope to begin providing in-person services to help guide those facing cancer through the health care system later in 2021.

Research

The American Cancer Society is the primary private nonprofit funder for scientists studying cancer in the United States. Over the past 20 years, the Extramural Discovery Science department has funded more than 550 cancer health equity and health disparities grants totaling over \$300 million, such as grants to address disparities in breast density care for Latinas and to improve quality of life for Latino children with cancer. Our intramural research program, which includes our Surveillance and Health Equity Science and Population Science teams, prioritizes cancer disparity and health equity research by investigating disparities in access to care and cancer risk factors, trends, occurrence, and outcomes for marginalized and medically underserved populations. Visit https://www.cancer.org/research.html to explore our research programs further.

Advocacy

The American Cancer Society and the American Cancer Society Cancer Action NetworkSM (ACS CAN), our nonprofit, nonpartisan advocacy affiliate, are committed to ensuring that everyone has a fair and just opportunity to prevent, find, treat, and survive cancer. No one should be disadvantaged in their fight against cancer because of how much money they make, the color of their skin, their sexual orientation, their gender identity, their disability status, or where they live. ACS CAN advocates for public policies to reduce disparities and improve health outcomes at all levels of government. Listed below are some of the efforts that ACS CAN has been involved with over the past few years:

ACS CAN and the American Cancer Society are working to improve access to health care for people with cancer, cancer survivors, and those who will be diagnosed with the disease in the future, which will help save lives. This includes ACS CAN's work to protect provisions under the health care law known as the Affordable Care Act, which has improved access to care for people facing cancer and their families by:

- Ending discrimination against people with cancer and other life-threatening diseases
- Expanding access to care for people with cancer or at risk for cancer
- Refocusing the health care system on disease prevention

Each year, ACS CAN works hard to ensure that the agencies overseeing cancer research and prevention programs receive the funding needed to continue the battle against cancer. The organization continues to lead the fight to maintain and increase the investment the US has made in biomedical and cancer research and cancer programs at the National Institutes of Health (NIH), the National Cancer Institute (NCI), and the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC). This investment includes increased funding for cancer research at the National Institute on Minority Health and Health Disparities, which the American Cancer Society was instrumental in helping to establish.

Protecting state and federal funding for the CDC's National Breast and Cervical Cancer Early Detection Program (NBCCEDP) continues to be a high priority for ACS CAN. Ensuring adequate funding for the NBCCEDP will preserve a critical safety net for those who continue to lack access to lifesaving screening, as well as diagnostic and treatment services for breast and cervical cancers.

Colorectal cancer screening by colonoscopy can remove precancerous polyps during the procedure, thereby making it a unique preventive service. ACS CAN successfully advocated for passage of the Removing Barriers to Colorectal Cancer Screening Act, which will ensure that Medicare beneficiaries have access to colorectal cancer screening without any surprise outof-pocket costs. This major bipartisan victory will help improve affordability of lifesaving cancer detection services. ACS CAN is also advocating for smoking cessation treatment that is comprehensive, barrierfree, and widely promoted for Medicaid enrollees.

Additionally, ACS CAN supports policies that ensure people of different racial and ethnic backgrounds who have cancer are enrolled in clinical trials. Representation in clinical trials is important because the studies help ensure that medicines and treatments are safe and effective for people of all racial and ethnic backgrounds.

Additional Resources

Intercultural Cancer Council (ICC)

The Intercultural Cancer Council promotes policies, programs, partnerships, and research to eliminate the unequal burden of cancer among racial and ethnic minorities and medically underserved populations in the United States and its territories. Visit iccnetwork.org for more information.

National Hispanic Council on Aging (NHCOA)

The National Hispanic Council on Aging is the leading national organization working to improve the lives of older Hispanic adults, their families, and caregivers. The organization has been a strong voice dedicated to promoting, educating, and advocating for research, policy, and practice in the areas of economic security, health, and housing for more than 50 years. Visit nhcoa.org for more.

National Hispanic Medical Association (NHMA)

The National Hispanic Medical Association is a nonprofit association representing 50,000 licensed Hispanic physicians in the United States. The mission of the organization is to empower Hispanic physicians to lead efforts that improve the health of Hispanic individuals and other underserved populations in collaboration with Hispanic state medical societies, residents, medical students, and other public and private sector partners. Visit nhmamd.org for more information.

National Alliance for Hispanic Health

The National Alliance for Hispanic Health is the premier science-based and community-driven organization that focuses on the best health for all. Communitybased members provide services to more than 15 million Hispanic people throughout the United States every year and national organization members provide services to more than 100 million people annually. Visit hispanichealth.org for more information.

Data Limitations

Comparison of cancer incidence, death, and survival rates between racial and ethnic groups, particularly those involving groups other than White or Black Americans, should be interpreted with caution for several reasons. First, because of how cancer data are collected, we cannot present most cancer statistics according to country of origin and nativity status, masking important differences within the aggregated Hispanic population. In addition, ethnicity and race are not always classified uniformly in medical records, death certificates, and the US decennial census, so incidence and mortality rates for populations other than Whites and Blacks are likely to be underestimated.

Incidence trends, lifetime probabilities of developing cancer, and survival rates presented in this report are from the Surveillance, Epidemiology, and End Results (SEER) program cancer registry areas, which do not include some states where a large proportion of the US Hispanic population resides (e.g., Florida and Texas). Further, according to population-based data, Hispanic patients in the SEER registry areas have similar, or sometimes higher, cancer survival rates than non-Hispanic Whites for some cancer sites, despite having lower socioeconomic indicators. This counterintuitive scenario, sometimes referred to as the "Hispanic paradox," may reflect incomplete or biased data instead of a true survival advantage.^{26, 150, 151} As a result of the greater difficulties in the accurate recording of cancer deaths for immigrant populations, one study found that survival rates for Hispanic patients may be artificially inflated and should be interpreted with caution.²⁶

Finally, accurately identifying Hispanic/Latino individuals for cancer surveillance is an ongoing challenge. In an effort to address this issue, the North American Association of Central Cancer Registries (NAACCR) convened an expert panel in 2001 to develop the NAACCR Hispanic Identification Algorithm (NHIA), first released for use by cancer registries in 2003 and updated in 2005, which uses a combination of patient variables found within cancer registry records, including last name and birthplace, to indirectly determine Hispanic origin. However, work in this area is ongoing.

Sources of Statistics

Estimated new cancer cases: The estimated number of new cancer cases diagnosed among Hispanic people in the US in 2021 was projected using a two-step process. First, the total number of cases was estimated for the 10 most recent years of national data (2009 to 2018) by applying age-specific incidence rates for Hispanic people from 49 states and the District of Columbia that met the North American Association of Central Cancer Registries' (NAACCR) high-quality data standards for all 10 years to Hispanic population estimates.¹⁵² Then, the number of new cases was projected three years ahead based on the 10-year average annual percent change obtained from joinpoint regression analysis.

Incidence rates: Incidence rates (calculated as the number of people newly diagnosed with cancer during a given time period divided by the population at risk) were reported per 100,000 people and were age adjusted to the 2000 US standard population. Long-term incidence trends (1995 to 2018) were based on data from 28 states that met the NAACCR data quality standards for all years (covering 88% of the Hispanic population in the continental US and Hawaii) and were the source for the 10- and 5-year average annual percent change in cancer incidence rates (2009-2018 and 2014-2018). NAACCR incidence data were also the source for the 5-year average annual ageadjusted incidence rates for 2014-2018, as well as stage at diagnosis for new cases diagnosed 2014-2018.^{152, 153}

Estimated cancer deaths: The estimated number of US cancer deaths among Hispanic people living in the continental US or Hawaii in 2021 was calculated by fitting the number of cancer deaths from 2005 through 2019 to a statistical model that forecasts the number of deaths expected to occur in 2021. Data on the number of deaths are obtained from the National Center for Health Statistics (NCHS) of the CDC.¹⁵⁴

Death rates: Similar to the incidence rates, death rates herein are presented as cancer deaths per 100,000 people and are age adjusted to the 2000 US standard population.

Death rates in this publication are based on counts of cancer deaths compiled by the NCHS and population data from the US Census Bureau.¹⁵⁴ Five-year average annual cancer death rates for Puerto Rico (2014-2018) were previously published elsewhere.¹⁵⁵ It is important to note that Hispanic cancer incidence and mortality rates are not directly comparable because of differences in population coverage and data years and because the amount by which surveillance data underestimate these two statistics for racial/ethnic minority groups is different.¹⁵⁶

Important note about estimated cancer cases and deaths for the current year: Estimates do not include Hispanic people living in US territories due to data limitations. While the projections provide a reasonably accurate estimate of the cancer burden in 2021, they cannot be used to track changes in cancer occurrence because they may vary from previous years for reasons other than changes in cancer occurrence. Therefore, age-adjusted incidence and mortality rates are the preferred statistics to track cancer trends in the US. These estimates also do not reflect the substantial impact of the COVID-19 pandemic on the Hispanic community because final 2020 incidence and mortality data are not yet available.

Survival: This report presents cause-specific survival rates from patients diagnosed in 17 registries of the SEER program to describe cancer survival.¹⁵⁷ All five-year survival statistics presented in the tables and text of this publication are for diagnosis years 2011 to 2017, with all patients followed through 2018.

Risk factor and screening prevalence: The methods for the collection of population-based national survey data collected by the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention used to examine the prevalence of selected cancer risk factors and screening prevalence herein are described in further detail via the links below:

- National Health and Nutrition Examination Survey (NHANES): cdc.gov/nchs/nhanes.htm
- National Health Interview Survey (NHIS): cdc.gov/nchs/nhis.htm

- National Youth Tobacco Survey (NYTS): cdc.gov/TOBACCO/data_statistics/surveys/NYTS/
- Youth Risk Behavior Surveillance System (YRBSS): cdc.gov/HealthyYouth/yrbs/index.htm

References

1. Noe-Bustamnte L, Lopez MH, Krogstad JM. U.S. Hispanic population surpassed 60 million in 2019, but growth has slowed. https://www.pewresearch.org/fact-tank/2020/07/07/u-s-hispanic-populationsurpassed-60-million-in-2019-but-growth-has-slowed/. Accessed May 5, 2021.

2. US Census Bureau. Annual Estimates of the Resident Population for the United States S, Counties, and Puerto Rico Commonwealth and Municipios: April 1, 2010 to July 1, 2019. Internet release date: 2020.

3. Krogstad JM, Noe-Bustamnte L. Key facts about U.S. Latinos for National Hispanic Heritage Month. 2020; https://www.pewresearch.org/fact-tank/2020/09/10/key-facts-about-u-s-latinos-for-national-hispanic-heritage-month/. Accessed May 5, 2021.

4. Islami F, Goding Sauer A, Miller KD, et al. Proportion and number of cancer cases and deaths attributable to potentially modifiable risk factors in the United States. *CA Cancer J Clin.* 2018;68(1):31-54.

5. Semega JL, Kollar M, Schrider EA, Creamer J. Income and Poverty in the United States: 2019. US Census Bureau, Current Population Reports, P60-270. Washington, DC: US Government Printing Office; 2020. 2020.

6. Bailey ZD, Feldman JM, Bassett MT. How Structural Racism Works – Racist Policies as a Root Cause of U.S. Racial Health Inequities. *N Engl J Med.* 2021;384(8):768-773.

7. Cuevas AG, Dawson BA, Williams DR. Race and Skin Color in Latino Health: An Analytic Review. *Am J Public Health*. 2016;106(12):2131-2136.

8. Velasco-Mondragon E, Jimenez A, Palladino-Davis AG, Davis D, Escamilla-Cejudo JA. Hispanic health in the USA: a scoping review of the literature. *Public Health Rev.* 2016;37:31.

9. Scheppers E, van Dongen E, Dekker J, Geertzen J, Dekker J. Potential barriers to the use of health services among ethnic minorities: a review. *Fam Pract*. 2006;23(3):325-348.

10. Doty MM, Blumenthal D, Collins SR. The Affordable Care Act and health insurance for Latinos. *JAMA*. 2014;312(17):1735-1736.

11. Arias E, Tejada-Vera B, Ahmad F, Kochanek KD. Provisional life expectancy estimates for 2020. Vital Statistics Rapid Release; no 15. Hyattsville, MD: National Center for Health Statistics. July 2021.

12. Kagawa-Singer M, Dadia AV, Yu MC, Surbone A. Cancer, culture, and health disparities: time to chart a new course? *CA Cancer J Clin.* 2010;60(1):12-39.

13. Gilbert MJ. *Principles and Recommended Standards for Cultural Competence Education of Health Care Professionals*. Los Angeles: The California Endowment; 2002.

14. Lara M, Gamboa C, Kahramanian MI, Morales LS, Bautista DE. Acculturation and Latino health in the United States: a review of the literature and its sociopolitical context. *Annu Rev Public Health*. 2005;26:367-397. 15. Abraido-Lanza AF, Echeverria SE, Florez KR. Latino Immigrants, Acculturation, and Health: Promising New Directions in Research. *Annu Rev Public Health*. 2016;37:219-236.

16. Krueger PM, Coleman-Minahan K, Rooks RN. Race/ ethnicity, nativity and trends in BMI among U.S. adults. *Obesity*. 2014;22(7):1739-1746.

17. Pinheiro PS, Callahan KE, Gomez SL, et al. High cancer mortality for US-born Latinos: evidence from California and Texas. *BMC Cancer*. 2017;17(1):478.

18. Thomas DB, Karagas MR. Cancer in first and second generation Americans. *Cancer Res.* 1987;47(21):5771-5776.

19. Pinheiro PS, Sherman RL, Trapido EJ, et al. Cancer incidence in first generation U.S. Hispanics: Cubans, Mexicans, Puerto Ricans, and new Latinos. *Cancer Epidemiol Biomarkers Prev.* 2009;18(8):2162-2169.

20. DevCan: Probability of Developing or Dying of Cancer Software, Version 6.7.9. Statistical Research and Applications Branch, National Cancer Institute, 2021. https://surveillance.cancer.gov/devcan/.

21. Siegel RL, Miller KD, Fuchs HE, Jemal A. Cancer Statistics, 2021. *CA Cancer J Clin*. 2021;71(1):7-33.

22. Sierra MS, Soerjomataram I, Antoni S, et al. Cancer patterns and trends in Central and South America. *Cancer Epidemiol.* 2016;44 Suppl 1:S23-S42.

23. Zamora SM, Pinheiro PS, Gomez SL, et al. Disaggregating Hispanic American Cancer Mortality Burden by Detailed Ethnicity. *Cancer Epidemiol Biomarkers Prev.* 2019;28(8):1353-1363.

24. Pinheiro PS, Callahan KE, Stern MC, de Vries E. Migration from Mexico to the United States: A high-speed cancer transition. *Int J Cancer*. 2018;142(3):477-488.

25. Garnett E, Townsend J, Steele B, Watson M. Characteristics, rates, and trends of melanoma incidence among Hispanics in the USA. *Cancer Causes Control.* 2016;27(5):647-659.

26. Pinheiro PS, Morris CR, Liu L, Bungum TJ, Altekruse SF. The impact of follow-up type and missed deaths on population-based cancer survival studies for Hispanics and Asians. *J Natl Cancer Inst Monogr.* 2014;2014(49):210-217.

27. Stern MC, Fejerman L, Das R, et al. Variability in Cancer Risk and Outcomes Within US Latinos by National Origin and Genetic Ancestry. *Curr Epidemiol Rep.* 2016;3:181-190.

28. Gangnon RE, Sprague BL, Stout NK, et al. The contribution of mammography screening to breast cancer incidence trends in the United States: an updated age-period-cohort model. *Cancer Epidemiol Biomarkers Prev.* 2015;24(6):905-912.

29. World Cancer Research Fund International/American Institute for Cancer Research. Continuous Update Project Report: Diet, Nutrition, Physical Activity and Breast Cancer. 2017. Available at: wcrf.org/breast-cancer-2017. 30. Bandera EV, Maskarinec G, Romieu I, John EM. Racial and ethnic disparities in the impact of obesity on breast cancer risk and survival: a global perspective. *Adv Nutr.* 2015;6(6):803-819.

31. Chlebowski RT, Chen Z, Anderson GL, et al. Ethnicity and breast cancer: factors influencing differences in incidence and outcome. *J Natl Cancer Inst.* 2005;97(6):439-448.

32. Chiang KV, Li R, Anstey EH, Perrine CG. Racial and Ethnic Disparities in Breastfeeding Initiation horizontal line United States, 2019. *MMWR Morb Mortal Wkly Rep.* 2021;70(21):769-774.

33. Bigman G, Wilkinson AV, Perez A, Homedes N. Acculturation and Breastfeeding Among Hispanic American Women: A Systematic Review. *Matern Child Health J.* 2018;22(9):1260-1277.

34. Iqbal J, Ginsburg O, Rochon PA, Sun P, Narod SA. Differences in breast cancer stage at diagnosis and cancer-specific survival by race and ethnicity in the United States. *JAMA*. 2015;313(2):165-173.

35. Lantz PM, Mujahid M, Schwartz K, et al. The influence of race, ethnicity, and individual socioeconomic factors on breast cancer stage at diagnosis. *Am J Public Health*. 2006;96(12):2173-2178.

36. Smith-Bindman R, Miglioretti DL, Lurie N, et al. Does utilization of screening mammography explain racial and ethnic differences in breast cancer? *Ann Intern Med.* 2006;144(8):541-553.

37. Press R, Carrasquillo O, Sciacca RR, Giardina EG. Racial/ethnic disparities in time to follow-up after an abnormal mammogram. *J Womens Health (Larchmt)*. 2008;17(6):923-930.

38. Sineshaw HM, Gaudet M, Ward EM, et al. Association of race/ ethnicity, socioeconomic status, and breast cancer subtypes in the National Cancer Data Base (2010-2011). *Breast Cancer Res Treat*. 2014;145(3):753-763.

39. Martinez ME, Gomez SL, Tao L, et al. Contribution of clinical and socioeconomic factors to differences in breast cancer subtype and mortality between Hispanic and non-Hispanic white women. *Breast Cancer Res Treat*. 2017;166(1):185-193.

40. Chen L, Li CI. Racial disparities in breast cancer diagnosis and treatment by hormone receptor and HER2 status. *Cancer Epidemiol Biomarkers Prev.* 2015;24(11):1666-1672.

41. Ellis L, Canchola AJ, Spiegel D, Ladabaum U, Haile R, Gomez SL. Racial and Ethnic Disparities in Cancer Survival: The Contribution of Tumor, Sociodemographic, Institutional, and Neighborhood Characteristics. *J Clin Oncol.* 2018;36(1):25-33.

42. Warner ET, Tamimi RM, Hughes ME, et al. Racial and Ethnic Differences in Breast Cancer Survival: Mediating Effect of Tumor Characteristics and Sociodemographic and Treatment Factors. *J Clin Oncol.* 2015;33(20):2254-2261.

43. Martinsen RP, Morris CR, Pinheiro PS, Parikh-Patel A, Kizer KW. Colorectal Cancer Trends in California and the Need for Greater Screening of Hispanic Men. *Am J Prev Med.* 2016;51(6):e155-e163.

44. World Cancer Research Fund International/American Institute for Cancer Research. Continuous Update Project Report: Diet, Nutrition, Physical Activity and Colorectal Cancer. 2017. Available at: https://www.wcrf.org/dietandcancer/colorectal-cancer/.

45. Lutgens MW, van Oijen MG, van der Heijden GJ, Vleggaar FP, Siersema PD, Oldenburg B. Declining risk of colorectal cancer in inflammatory bowel disease: an updated meta-analysis of populationbased cohort studies. *Inflamm Bowel Dis.* 2013;19(4):789-799.

46. Butterworth AS, Higgins JP, Pharoah P. Relative and absolute risk of colorectal cancer for individuals with a family history: a metaanalysis. *Eur J Cancer*. 2006;42(2):216-227. 47. De Bruijn KM, Arends LR, Hansen BE, Leeflang S, Ruiter R, van Eijck CH. Systematic review and meta-analysis of the association between diabetes mellitus and incidence and mortality in breast and colorectal cancer. *Br J Surg.* 2013;100(11):1421-1429.

48. Luo S, Li JY, Zhao LN, et al. Diabetes mellitus increases the risk of colorectal neoplasia: An updated meta-analysis. *Clin Res Hepatol Gastroenterol.* 2016;40(1):110-123.

49. Rex DK, Boland CR, Dominitz JA, et al. Colorectal Cancer Screening: Recommendations for Physicians and Patients from the U.S. Multi-Society Task Force on Colorectal Cancer. *Am J Gastroenterol*. 2017;112(7):1016-1030.

50. Reyes-Guzman CM, Pfeiffer RM, Lubin J, et al. Determinants of Light and Intermittent Smoking in the United States: Results from Three Pooled National Health Surveys. *Cancer Epidemiol Biomarkers Prev.* 2017;26(2):228-239.

51. Pinheiro PS, Callahan KE, Siegel RL, et al. Cancer Mortality in Hispanic Ethnic Groups. *Cancer Epidemiol Biomarkers Prev.* 2017;26(3):376-382.

52. National Lung Screening Trial Research Team, Aberle DR, Berg CD, et al. The National Lung Screening Trial: overview and study design. *Radiology*. 2011;258(1):243-253.

53. World Cancer Research Fund International and American Institute for Cancer Research. Continuous Update Project Report: Diet, Nutrition, Physical Activity, and Prostate Cancer. In: Washington, DC: American Institute for Cancer Research; 2014: https://www.wcrf.org/dietandcancer/prostate-cancer/.

54. Sung H, Ferlay J, Siegel RL, et al. Global Cancer Statistics 2020: GLOBOCAN Estimates of Incidence and Mortality Worldwide for 36 Cancers in 185 Countries. *CA Cancer J Clin.* 2021;71(3):209-249.

55. Stinton LM, Shaffer EA. Epidemiology of gallbladder disease: cholelithiasis and cancer. *Gut Liver*. 2012;6(2):172-187.

56. Hundal R, Shaffer EA. Gallbladder cancer: epidemiology and outcome. *Clin Epidemiol*. 2014;6:99-109.

57. Hsing AW, Rashid A, Devesa SS, Fraumeni JF. Biliary Tract Cancer. In: Schottenfeld D, Fraumeni JF, eds. *Cancer Epidemiology and Prevention*. 3rd Edition ed. New York: Oxford University Press; 2006:787-800.

58. Bhaskaran K, Douglas I, Forbes H, dos-Santos-Silva I, Leon DA, Smeeth L. Body-mass index and risk of 22 specific cancers: a population-based cohort study of 5.24 million UK adults. *Lancet*. 2014;384(9945):755-765.

59. Fernandez E, Gallus S, Bosetti C, Franceschi S, Negri E, La Vecchia C. Hormone replacement therapy and cancer risk: a systematic analysis from a network of case-control studies. *Int J Cancer*. 2003;105(3):408-412.

60. Chow WH, Johansen C, Gridley G, Mellemkjaer L, Olsen JH, Fraumeni JF, Jr. Gallstones, cholecystectomy and risk of cancers of the liver, biliary tract and pancreas. *Br J Cancer*. 1999;79(3-4):640-644.

61. Setiawan VW, Wei PC, Hernandez BY, et al. Disparity in liver cancer incidence and chronic liver disease mortality by nativity in Hispanics: The Multiethnic Cohort. *Cancer*. 2016;122(9):1444-1452.

62. Pinheiro PS, Callahan KE, Jones PD, et al. Liver cancer: A leading cause of cancer death in the United States and the role of the 1945-1965 birth cohort by ethnicity. *JHEP Rep.* 2019;1(3):162-169.

63. Endeshaw M, Hallowell BD, Razzaghi H, Senkomago V, McKenna MT, Saraiya M. Trends in liver cancer mortality in the United States: Dual burden among foreign- and US-born persons. *Cancer*. 2019;125(5):726-734.

64. World Cancer Research Fund International and American Institute for Cancer Research. Continuous Update Project Report: Diet, Nutrition, Physical Activity and Liver Cancer. In: Washington, DC: American Institute for Cancer Research; 2015: https://www.wcrf.org/ dietandcancer/liver-cancer/.

65. El-Serag HB, Kanwal F. Epidemiology of hepatocellular carcinoma in the United States: where are we? Where do we go? *Hepatology*. 2014;60(5):1767-1775.

66. Pinheiro PS, Medina HN, Callahan KE, et al. The association between etiology of hepatocellular carcinoma and race-ethnicity in Florida. *Liver Int*. 2020;40(5):1201-1210.

67. Liu Y, Wu F. Global burden of aflatoxin-induced hepatocellular carcinoma: a risk assessment. *Environ Health Perspect*. 2010;118(6):818-824.

68. Sanjeevaiah A, Cheedella N, Hester C, Porembka MR. Gastric Cancer: Recent Molecular Classification Advances, Racial Disparity, and Management Implications. *J Oncol Pract.* 2018;14(4):217-224.

69. Merchant SJ, Kim J, Choi AH, Sun V, Chao J, Nelson R. A rising trend in the incidence of advanced gastric cancer in young Hispanic men. *Gastric Cancer*. 2017;20(2):226-234.

70. Anderson WF, Rabkin CS, Turner N, et al. The changing face of noncardia gastric cancer incidence among non-Hispanic Whites. *J Natl Cancer Inst.* 2018; 110:608.

71. Eslick GD. Helicobacter pylori infection causes gastric cancer? A review of the epidemiological, meta-analytic, and experimental evidence. *World J Gastroenterol.* 2006;12(19):2991-2999.

72. Shibata A, Parsonnet J. Stomach Cancer. In: Schottenfeld D, Fraumeni JF, eds. *Cancer Epidemiology and Prevention*. 3rd Edition ed. New York: Oxford University Press; 2006:707-720.

73. O'Connor A, Lamarque D, Gisbert JP, O'Morain C. Treatment of Helicobacter pylori infection 2017. *Helicobacter*. 2017;22 Suppl 1.

74. Karimi P, Islami F, Anandasabapathy S, Freedman ND, Kamangar F. Gastric cancer: descriptive epidemiology, risk factors, screening, and prevention. *Cancer Epidemiol Biomarkers Prev.* 2014;23(5):700-713.

75. World Cancer Research Fund and American Institute for Cancer Research. Continuous Update Project 2016; http://www.wcrf.org/int/research-we-fund/continuous-update-project-cup.

76. US Department of Health and Human Services. *The Health Consequences of Smoking-50 Years of Progress. A Report from the Surgeon General.* Atlanta, GA; USA: Department of Health and Human Services. Center for Disease Control and Prevention, National Center for Chronic Disease Prevention and Health Promotion;2014.

77. Steliarova-Foucher E, Colombet M, Ries LAG, et al. International incidence of childhood cancer, 2001-10: a population-based registry study. *Lancet Oncol.* 2017;18(6):719-731.

78. Lim JY, Bhatia S, Robison LL, Yang JJ. Genomics of racial and ethnic disparities in childhood acute lymphoblastic leukemia. *Cancer.* 2014;120(7):955-962.

79. Wilkinson JD, Fleming LE, MacKinnon J, et al. Lymphoma and lymphoid leukemia incidence in Florida children: ethnic and racial distribution. *Cancer.* 2001;91(7):1402-1408.

80. Heck JE, Park AS, Contreras ZA, et al. Risk of Childhood Cancer by Maternal Birthplace: A Test of the Hispanic Paradox. *JAMA Pediatr*. 2016;170(6):585-592.

81. Jacobs EJ, Newton CC, Carter BD, et al. What proportion of cancer deaths in the contemporary United States is attributable to cigarette smoking? *Ann Epidemiol.* 2015;25(3):179-182 e171.

82. Secretan B, Straif K, Baan R, et al. A review of human carcinogens – Part E: tobacco, areca nut, alcohol, coal smoke, and salted fish. *Lancet Oncol.* 2009 10:1033-1034.

83. Foerster B, Pozo C, Abufaraj M, et al. Association of Smoking Status With Recurrence, Metastasis, and Mortality Among Patients With Localized Prostate Cancer Undergoing Prostatectomy or Radiotherapy: A Systematic Review and Meta-analysis. *JAMA Oncol.* 2018.

84. American Cancer Society. *Cancer Prevention & Early Detection Facts & Figures 2021-2022*. Atlanta, GA: American Cancer Society; 2021.

85. Gentzke AS, Wang TW, Jamal A, et al. Tobacco Product Use Among Middle and High School Students – United States, 2020. *MMWR Morb Mortal Wkly Rep.* 2020;69(50):1881-1888.

86. US Department of Health and Human Services. *Smoking Cessation. A Report of the Surgeon General.* Atlanta, GA: Department of Health and Human Services, Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, National Center for Chronic Disease Prevention and Health Promotion, Office of Smoking and Health; 2020.

87. Babb S, Malarcher A, Asman K, et al. Disparities in Cessation Behaviors Between Hispanic and Non-Hispanic White Adult Cigarette Smokers in the United States, 2000-2015. *Prev Chronic Dis.* 2020;17:E10.

88. Bandi P, Minihan AK, RL S, et al. Updated review of major cancer risk factors and screening test use in the United States in 2018 and 2019, with a focus on smoking cessation. *Cancer Epidemiol Biomarkers Prev.* 2021.

89. Rock CL, Thomson C, Gansler T, et al. American Cancer Society guideline for diet and physical activity for cancer prevention. *CA Cancer J Clin.* 2020;70(4):245-271.

90. Lauby-Secretan B, Scoccianti C, Loomis D, Grosse Y, Bianchini F, Straif K. Body Fatness and Cancer--Viewpoint of the IARC Working Group. *N Engl J Med.* 2016;375(8):794-798.

91. Demark-Wahnefried W, Platz EA, Ligibel JA, et al. The role of obesity in cancer survival and recurrence. *Cancer Epidemiol Biomarkers Prev.* 2012;21(8):1244-1259.

92. Ogden CL, Fryar CD, Martin CB, et al. Trends in Obesity Prevalence by Race and Hispanic Origin-1999-2000 to 2017-2018. *JAMA*. 2020;324(12):1208-1210.

93. Bagnardi V, Rota M, Botteri E, et al. Alcohol consumption and site-specific cancer risk: a comprehensive dose-response metaanalysis. *Br J Cancer*. 2015;112(3):580-593.

94. Chen WY, Rosner B, Hankinson SE, Colditz GA, Willett WC. Moderate alcohol consumption during adult life, drinking patterns, and breast cancer risk. *JAMA*. 2011;306(17):1884-1890.

95. World Cancer Research Fund and American Institute for Cancer Research. *Food, Nutrition, Physical Activity, and the Prevention of Cancer: A Global Perspective. Continuous Update Project Expert Report* 2018. Washington, DC: American Institute for Cancer Research; 2018.

96. International Agency for Research on Cancer. *IARC Monographs* on the Evaluation of Carcinogenic Risks to Humans. Volume 96: Alcohol Consumption and Ethyl Carbamate. Lyon, France: IARC Press; 2010.

97. Grosso G, Bella F, Godos J, et al. Possible role of diet in cancer: systematic review and multiple meta-analyses of dietary patterns, lifestyle factors, and cancer risk. *Nutr Rev.* 2017;75(6):405-419.

98. Martin CB, Wambogo EA, Ahluwalia N, Ogden CL. Nonalcoholic Beverage Consumption Among Adults: United States, 2015-2018. *NCHS Data Brief*. 2020(376):1-8. 99. Ahluwalia N, Herrick KA, Terry AL, Hughes JP. Contribution of Whole Grains to Total Grains Intake Among Adults Aged 20 and Over: United States, 2013-2016. *NCHS Data Brief*. 2019(341):1-8.

100. Moore SC, Lee IM, Weiderpass E, et al. Association of LeisureTime Physical Activity With Risk of 26 Types of Cancer in 1.44 Million Adults. *JAMA Intern Med.* 2016;176: 816-825.

101. Patel AV, Friedenreich CM, Moore SC, et al. American College of Sports Medicine Roundtable Report on Physical Activity, Sedentary Behavior, and Cancer Prevention and Control. *Med Sci Sports Exerc*. 2019;51(11):2391-2402.

102. 2018 Physical Activity Guidelines Advisory Committee. 2018 Physical activity guidelines advisory committee scientific report. Washington, DC: U.S. Department of Health and Human Services; 2018.

103. Kerr J, Anderson C, Lippman SM. Physical activity, sedentary behaviour, diet, and cancer: an update and emerging new evidence. *Lancet Oncol.* 2017;18(8):e457-e471.

104. National Center for Health Statistics. Health, United States, 2016: With Chartbook on Long-term Trends in Health. Hyattsville, MD 2017.

105. Giovannucci E, Harlan DM, Archer MC, et al. Diabetes and cancer: a consensus report. *CA Cancer J Clin*. 2010;60(4):207-221.

106. Bao C, Yang X, Xu W, et al. Diabetes mellitus and incidence and mortality of kidney cancer: a meta-analysis. *J Diabetes Complications*. 2013;27(4):357-364.

107. Wang L, Wang L, Zhang J, Wang B, Liu H. Association between diabetes mellitus and subsequent ovarian cancer in women: A systematic review and meta-analysis of cohort studies. *Medicine (Baltimore).* 2017;96(16):e6396.

108. He J, Stram DO, Kolonel LN, Henderson BE, Le Marchand L, Haiman CA. The association of diabetes with colorectal cancer risk: the Multiethnic Cohort. *Br J Cancer*. 2010;103(1):120-126.

109. Setiawan VW, Stram DO, Porcel J, et al. Pancreatic Cancer Following Incident Diabetes in African Americans and Latinos: The Multiethnic Cohort. *J Natl Cancer Inst.* 2018.

110. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. *National Diabetes Statistics Report 2020*. Atlanta, GA: Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, U.S. Dept of Health and Human Services; 2020.

111. Dominguez K, Penman-Aguilar A, Chang MH, et al. Vital signs: leading causes of death, prevalence of diseases and risk factors, and use of health services among Hispanics in the United States - 2009-2013. *MMWR Morb Mortal Wkly Rep.* 2015;64(17):469-478.

112. Plummer M, Franceschi S, Vignat J, Forman D, de Martel C. Global burden of gastric cancer attributable to pylori. *Int J Cancer*. 2015;136(2):487-490.

113. Brown LM. Helicobacter pylori: epidemiology and routes of transmission. *Epidemiol Rev.* 2000;22(2):283-297.

114. Grad YH, Lipsitch M, Aiello AE. Secular trends in Helicobacter pylori seroprevalence in adults in the United States: evidence for sustained race/ethnic disparities. *Am J Epidemiol.* 2012;175(1):54-59.

115. Siao D, Somsouk M. Helicobacter pylori: evidence-based review with a focus on immigrant populations. *J Gen Intern Med*. 2014;29(3):520-528.

116. Hooi JKY, Lai WY, Ng WK, et al. Global Prevalence of Helicobacter pylori Infection: Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis. *Gastroenterology*. 2017;153(2):420-429.

117. International Agency for Research on Cancer. *IARC Monograph* on Biological Agents: A Review of Human Carcinogens. 2012.

118. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. *Viral Hepatitis Surveillance – United States, 2014.* Atlanta, GA: Centers for Disease Control and Prevention; 2014.

119. de Martel C, Maucort-Boulch D, Plummer M, Franceschi S. World-wide relative contribution of hepatitis B and C viruses in hepatocellular carcinoma. *Hepatology*. 2015;62(4):1190-1200.

120. Schillie S VC, Reingold A, Harris A, HaberP, Ward JW, Nelson NP,. Prevention of Hepatitis B Virus Infection in the United States: Recommendations of the Advisory Committee on Immunization Practices. *MMWR Recomm Rep.* 2018;67(1):1-31.

121. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, National Center for Immunization and Respiratory Diseases. TeenVaxView. 2021; https:// www.cdc.gov/vaccines/imz-managers/coverage/teenvaxview/data-reports/index. html Accessed May 18, 2021.

122. Healy J, Rodriguez-Lainz A, Elam-Evans LD, Hill HA, Reagan-Steiner S, Yankey D. Vaccination coverage among foreign-born and U.S.-born adolescents in the United States: Successes and gaps - National Immunization Survey-Teen, 2012-2014. *Vaccine*. 2018;36(13):1743-1750.

123. Kruszon-Moran D, Paulose-Ram R, Martin CB, Barker LK, McQuillan G. Prevalence and Trends in Hepatitis B Virus Infection in the United States, 2015-2018. *NCHS Data Brief.* 2020(361):1-8.

124. Force USPST, Owens DK, Davidson KW, et al. Screening for Hepatitis C Virus Infection in Adolescents and Adults: US Preventive Services Task Force Recommendation Statement. *JAMA*. 2020;323(10):970-975.

125. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. 2019 Viral Hepatitis Surveillance Report. https://www.cdc.gov/hepatitis/statistics/SurveillanceRpts. htm. Accessed May 21, 2021.

126. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. Genital HPV Infection. Available from: https://www.cdc.gov/std/hpv/stdfact-hpv.htm [accessed March 31, 2021].

127. Saraiya M, Unger ER, Thompson TD, et al. US assessment of HPV types in cancers: implications for current and 9-valent HPV vaccines. *JNatl Cancer Inst.* 2015;107(6):djv086.

128. Viens LJ, Henley SJ, Watson M, et al. Human Papillomavirus-Associated Cancers – United States, 2008-2012. *MMWR Morb Mortal Wkly Rep.* 2016;65(26):661-666.

129. World health Organization. Human Papillomavirus (HPV) and Cervical Cancer. Available from URL: https://www.who.int/news-room/fact-sheets/detail/human-papillomavirus-(hpv)-and-cervical-cancer [accessed March 30, 2021].

130. Serrano B, de Sanjose S, Tous S, et al. Human papillomavirus genotype attribution for HPVs 6, 11, 16, 18, 31, 33, 45, 52 and 58 in female anogenital lesions. *Eur J Cancer*. 2015;51(13):1732-1741.

131. Saslow D, Andrews KS, Manassaram-Baptiste D, Smith RA, Fontham ETH, American Cancer Society Guideline Development G. Human papillomavirus vaccination 2020 guideline update: American Cancer Society guideline adaptation. *CA Cancer J Clin.* 2020;70(4):274-280.

132. Simard EP, Pfeiffer RM, Engels EA. Spectrum of cancer risk late after AIDS onset in the United States. *Arch Intern Med.* 2010;170(15):1337-1345.

133. Shiels MS, Cole SR, Kirk GD, Poole C. A meta-analysis of the incidence of non-AIDS cancers in HIV-infected individuals. *J Acquir Immune Defic Syndr.* 2009;52(5):611-622.

134. Engels EA. Non-AIDS-defining malignancies in HIV-infected persons: etiologic puzzles, epidemiologic perils, prevention opportunities. *AIDS*. 2009;23(8):875-885.

135. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. *HIV Surveillance Report, 2018.* Atlanta, GA: Center for Disease Control and Prevention; May 2020 2020.

136. Shoemaker ML, White MC. Breast and cervical cancer screening among Hispanic subgroups in the USA: estimates from the National Health Interview Survey 2008, 2010, and 2013. *Cancer Causes Control.* 2016;27(3):453-457.

137. Fontham ETH, Wolf AMD, Church TR, et al. Cervical cancer screening for individuals at average risk: 2020 guideline update from the American Cancer Society. *CA Cancer J Clin.* 2020;70(5):321-346.

138. Watson M, Benard V, King J, Crawford A, Saraiya M. National assessment of HPV and Pap tests: Changes in cervical cancer screening, National Health Interview Survey. *Prev Med.* 2017;100:243-247.

139. National Center for Health Statistics. National Health Interview Survey, 2015. Public-use data file and documentation. 2016; http://www.cdc.gov/nchs/nhis/quest_data_related_1997_forward.htm. Accessed July 16, 2016.

140. Jiang C, Fedewa SA, Wen Y, Jemal A, Han X. Shared decision making and prostate-specific antigen based prostate cancer screening following the 2018 update of USPSTF screening guideline. *Prostate Cancer Prostatic Dis.* 2021;24(1):77-80.

141. Smith RA, Andrews KS, Brooks D, et al. Cancer screening in the United States, 2018: A review of current American Cancer Society guidelines and current issues in cancer screening. *CA Cancer J Clin.* 2018.

142. Force USPST, Krist AH, Davidson KW, et al. Screening for Lung Cancer: US Preventive Services Task Force Recommendation Statement. *JAMA*. 2021;325(10):962-970.

143. Reese TJ, Schlechter CR, Potter LN, et al. Evaluation of Revised US Preventive Services Task Force Lung Cancer Screening Guideline Among Women and Racial/Ethnic Minority Populations. *JAMA Netw Open*. 2021;4(1):e2033769.

144. Fedewa SA, Kazerooni EA, Studts JL, et al. State Variation in Low-Dose CT Scanning for Lung Cancer Screening in the United States. *J Natl Cancer Inst.* 2020.

145. Hudson SV, Ferrante JM, Ohman-Strickland P, et al. Physician recommendation and patient adherence for colorectal cancer screening. *J Am Board Fam Med.* 2012;25(6):782-791.

146. Peipins LA, Soman A, Berkowitz Z, White MC. The lack of paid sick leave as a barrier to cancer screening and medical care-seeking: results from the National Health Interview Survey. *BMC Public Health*. 2012;12:520.

147. Mojica CM, Parra-Medina D, Vernon S. Interventions Promoting Colorectal Cancer Screening Among Latino Men: A Systematic Review. *Prev Chronic Dis*. 2018;15:E31. 148. The Community Guide. AMIGAS: Promoting Cervical Cancer Screening among Hispanic Women. https://www.thecommunityguide.org/ stories/amigas-promoting-cervical-cancer-screening-among-hispanic-women. Accessed May 21, 2021.

149. Ortiz AP, Ortiz-Ortiz KJ, Colon-Lopez V, et al. Incidence of Cervical Cancer in Puerto Rico, 2001-2017. *JAMA Oncol*. 2021;7(3): 456-458.

150. Pinheiro PS, Williams M, Miller EA, Easterday S, Moonie S, Trapido EJ. Cancer survival among Latinos and the Hispanic Paradox. *Cancer Causes Control.* 2011;22(4):553-561.

151. Turra CM, Elo IT. The Impact of Salmon Bias on the Hispanic Mortality Advantage: New Evidence from Social Security Data. *Popul Res Policy Rev.* 2008;27(5):515-530.

152. SEER*Stat Database: NAACCR Incidence Data - CiNA Analytic File, 1995-2018, for NHIAv2 Origin, Custom File With County, ACS Facts and Figures projection Project, submitted December 2020. NAACCR, 2021.

153. Sherman R, Firth R, Charlton M, et al. *Cancer in North America:* 2014-2018. Volume One: Combined Cancer Incidence for the United States, Canada and America. Springfield, IL: North American Association of Central Cancer Registries, Inc. June 2021.

154. American Cancer Society. SEER*Stat Database: Custom dataset – Mortality – All COD, Aggregated With State, Total U.S. (2003-2019). Underlying mortality data provided by NCHS (www.cdc.gov/nchs).

155. Sherman R, Firth R, Charlton M, et al (eds). *Cancer In North America, 2014-2018. Volume Three: Registry-specific Cancer Mortality in the United States and Canada.* Springfield, IL: North American Association of Central Cancer Registries, Inc. May 2021.

156. Arias E, Eschbach K, Schauman WS, Backlund EL, Sorlie PD. The Hispanic mortality advantage and ethnic misclassification on US death certificates. *Am J Public Health*. 2010;100 Suppl 1:S171-177.

157. Surveillance Epidemiology and End Results (SEER) Program. SEER*Stat Database: Incidence – SEER 21 Regs Research Data + Hurricane Katrina Impacted Louisiana Cases, Nov 2020 Sub (2000-2018) <Katrina/Rita Population Adjustment> – Linked To County Attributes – Total U.S., 1969-2019 Counties, National Cancer Institute, DCCPS, Surveillance Research Program, released April 2021, based on the November 2020 submission.

Acknowledgments

The production of this report would not be possible without the efforts of Rick Alteri; Priti Bandi; Joseph Cotter; Pat Deuschle; Stacey Fedewa; Hannah Fuchs; Trista Hargrove; Mamta Kalidas; Catherine McMahon; Dinorah Martinez Tyson; Adair Minihan; Ana P. Ortiz; Paulo Pinheiro; Scott Simpson; Tawana Thomas-Johnson; Dana Wagner; Tracy Weidt; and Kathy Zamora.

Cancer Facts & Figures for Hispanic/Latino People 2021-2023 is a publication of the American Cancer Society, Atlanta, Georgia.

For more information, contact: Kimberly Miller, MPH; Rebecca Siegel, MPH; Ahmedin Jemal, DVM, PhD Surveillance and Health Equity Science

American Cancer Society Recommendations for the Early Detection of Cancer in Average-risk Asymptomatic People*

Cancer Site	Population	Test or Procedure	Recommendation
Breast	Women, ages 40-54	Mammography	Women should have the opportunity to begin annual screening between the ages of 40 and 44. Women should undergo regular screening mammography starting at age 45. Women ages 45 to 54 should be screened annually.
	Women, ages 55+		Transition to biennial screening, or have the opportunity to continue annual screening. Continue screening as long as overall health is good and life expectancy is 10+ years.
Cervix	Women, ages 25-65	HPV DNA test, OR Pap test & HPV DNA test	Preferred: Primary HPV test alone every 5 years with an FDA-approved test for primary HPV screening. Acceptable: Co-testing (HPV test and Pap test) every 5 years or Pap test alone every 3 years.
	Women, ages >65		Discontinue screening if results from regular screening in the past 10 years were negative, with the most recent test within the past 5 years.
	Women who have been vaccinated against HPV		Follow age-specific screening recommendations (same as unvaccinated individuals).
	Women who have had a total hysterectomy		Individuals without a cervix and without a history of cervical cancer or a history of CIN2 or a more severe diagnosis in the past 25 years should not be screened.
Colorectal [†] Men and women, ages 45+	Men and women, ages 45+	Guaiac-based fecal occult blood test (gFOBT) with at least 50% sensitivity or fecal immunochemical test (FIT) with at least 50% sensitivity, OR	Annual testing of spontaneously passed stool specimens. Single stool testing during a clinician office visit is not recommended, nor are "throw in the toilet bowl" tests. In comparison with guaiac-based tests for the detection of occult blood, immunochemical tests are more patient-friendly and are likely to be equal or better in sensitivity and specificity. There is no justification for repeating FOBT in response to an initial positive finding.
	Multi-target stool DNA test, OR	Every 3 years	
		Flexible sigmoidoscopy (FSIG), OR	Every 5 years alone, or consideration can be given to combining FSIG performed every 5 years with a highly sensitive gFOBT or FIT performed annually
		Colonoscopy, OR	Every 10 years
		CT Colonography	Every 5 years
Endometrial	Women at menopause		Women should be informed about risks and symptoms of endometrial cancer and encouraged to report unexpected bleeding to a physician.
Lung	Current or former smokers ages 55-74 in good health with 30+ pack-year history	Low-dose helical CT (LDCT)	Clinicians with access to high-volume, high-quality lung cancer screening and treatment centers should initiate a discussion about annual lung cancer screening with apparently healthy patients ages 55-74 who have at least a 30 pack-year smoking history, and who currently smoke or have quit within the past 15 years. A process of informed and shared decision making with a clinician related to the potential benefits, limitations, and harms associated with screening for lung cancer with LDCT should occur before any decision is made to initiate lung cancer screening. Smoking cessation counseling remains a high priority for clinical attention in discussions with current smokers, who should be informed of their continuing risk of lung cancer. Screening should not be viewed as an alternative to smoking cessation.
Prostate	Men, ages 50+	Prostate-specific antigen test with or without digital rectal examination	Men who have at least a 10-year life expectancy should have an opportunity to make an informed decision with their health care provider about whether to be screened for prostate cancer, after receiving information about the potential benefits, risks, and uncertainties associated with prostate cancer screening. Prostate cancer screening should not occur without an informed decision-making process. African American men should have this conversation with their provider beginning at age 45.

CT-Computed tomography. *All individuals should become familiar with the potential benefits, limitations, and harms associated with cancer screening. †All positive tests (other than colonoscopy) should be followed up with colonoscopy. The American Cancer Society's mission is to **save lives**, **celebrate lives**, and **lead the fight** for a world without cancer.



BBB. ACCREDITED Dbb.org/charity

cancer.org | 1.800.227.2345